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Action filed:    July 7, 2021 
 
 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. This case is about Defendant Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc.’s (“Schnitzer”) 

ongoing emission of excessive levels of air pollutants that harm the people and environment 

surrounding its metal shredding facility in West Oakland (“Facility”).  

2. At the Facility, Schnitzer shreds up to 720,000 tons of junked products containing 

metal using a “mega-shredder” each year, processes an additional approximately 100,000 tons of 

larger products using torch-cutting and other equipment, and maintains multi-story stockpiles of 

hazardous material outdoors and exposed to the elements.  These operations emit hundreds of 
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tons of hazardous pollutants every year, including ozone-forming volatile organic compounds 

(“VOCs”), which cause numerous adverse health and environmental impacts.  Schnitzer’s 

Facility is not permitted under Title V of the federal Clean Air Act (“CAA”) and its air pollution 

violates federally enforceable requirements of California’s State Implementation Plan (“SIP”) 

and permit conditions imposed by the Bay Area Air Quality Management District 

(“BAAQMD”).   

3. West Oakland bears the brunt of Schnitzer’s ongoing air pollution in violation of 

the CAA.  Schnitzer’s Facility is located in West Oakland, a low-income community of color 

with a long history of suffering environmental pollution.  Within this community, Schnitzer’s 

Facility is located closer to nearly every class of sensitive receptor, including hospitals, schools, 

and daycare centers, than any other metal shredder in California; indeed, the Facility is less than 

a mile away from schools, hospitals, senior living centers, parks, and approximately 23,000 

residents.  The Facility also adjoins the Oakland Inner Harbor of the San Francisco Bay, which is 

impaired by multiple pollutants that Schnitzer’s operations are known to emit.  Furthermore, the 

operations are in an area designated pursuant to the CAA as a nonattainment area for national 

ambient air quality standards (“NAAQS”), meaning the area exceeds upper limits on ambient air 

pollution imposed to protect public health.  In this sensitive location, Schnitzer shreds more 

material, generates more hazardous waste, and emits more air pollutants than any other metal 

shredding facility in California and any other stationary source in West Oakland.  Yet, unlike 

other large metal shredders in California, Schnitzer has not obtained a Title V permit or installed 

all required air pollution control technologies.    

4. Plaintiff Athletics Investment Group LLC (“Plaintiff”) maintains its business 

operations near the Facility and is in the process of seeking approvals to build a ballpark for 

Major League Baseball games and other events near the Facility.  The Facility is less than a mile 

away from Plaintiff’s headquarters.    

5. Plaintiff brings this suit under the CAA’s citizen suit enforcement provision, 42 

U.S.C. § 7604, to prevent Schnitzer’s violations of the CAA, federally enforceable state laws, 

and its own permit conditions at the Facility.  Among other relief, Plaintiff is asking the Court to 
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enjoin Schnitzer’s unlawful air pollution, assess civil penalties, and secure beneficial mitigation 

projects authorized under the CAA to remedy, mitigate, and offset the harm to West Oakland’s 

public health and the environment caused by Schnitzer’s CAA violations.  

II. JURISDICTION, VENUE, AND INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT 

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the claims set forth in this 

Complaint pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 7604(a) (CAA citizen suit provision) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

(federal question jurisdiction).  The relief requested by Plaintiff is authorized by statute in 28 

U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, and 42 U.S.C. § 7604.   

7. The violations complained of occurred and continue to occur in the Northern 

District of California. Venue is therefore proper in the Northern District of California, pursuant 

to the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7604(c)(1), and the federal venue statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)-

(c).  For the same reason, intradistrict assignment is proper in the Oakland Division.  See N.D. 

Cal. L.R. 3-2. 

8. On February 5, 2021, Plaintiff provided notice via certified mail of its intent to 

sue to Defendant, the State of California, the California Air Resources Board, BAAQMD, the 

Acting Regional Administrator of Region 9 of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 

(“EPA”), and the Acting Administrator of EPA. The Notice of Intent letter and its attachments 

are attached as Exhibit 1 and are incorporated by reference. 

9. The Notice of Intent to Sue letter satisfies the CAA’s pre-suit notice requirements 

of 42 U.S.C. § 7604(b) and 40 C.F.R. part 54, to the extent pre-suit notice is required.  More than 

sixty days have passed since Plaintiff provided notice of the claims alleged herein. 

10. On information and belief, Plaintiff alleges that, as of the date of the filing of this 

Complaint, neither the EPA Administrator nor the State of California has commenced and is 

diligently prosecuting a court action to redress the ongoing violations alleged in Plaintiff’s 

Notice of Intent letter and this Complaint.   

11. Concurrently with filing this Complaint, Plaintiff is serving a copy of it upon the 

U.S. Attorney General and the EPA Administrator, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 7604(c)(3). 
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III. PARTIES 

12. Plaintiff Athletics Investment Group LLC is a limited liability corporation 

organized under the laws of the State of California and having a principal place of business at 55 

Harrison Street, Oakland, California 94607. 

13. Plaintiff maintains its business operations near the Facility and is in the process of 

seeking approvals to build a ballpark for Major League Baseball games and other events in close 

proximity to the Facility.  Defendant Schnitzer’s air pollution adversely affects the health and 

wellbeing of Plaintiff’s employees and damages Plaintiff’s property interests in West Oakland.  

For example, Schnitzer’s emissions have caused light fibrous material—a material that exceeds 

toxicity thresholds for hazardous waste under California—to be deposited on and around 

Plaintiff’s property in West Oakland.  Plaintiff’s employees, along with other residents, workers, 

and visitors to areas near the Facility, are subjected to harmful VOCs and other hazardous 

pollutants emitted by Schnitzer into the ambient air.  Plaintiff’s requested relief enjoining the 

violations addressed in this complaint will redress these harms to Plaintiff and other members of 

the West Oakland community harmed by Schnitzer’s emissions by reducing those emissions, 

requiring mitigation of harms, deterring future violations, and enforcing permitting requirements 

that improve transparency and provide for public participation.   

14. Defendant Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc. is a corporation organized under the 

laws of the state of Oregon.  It owns and operates its Facility, which is the largest metal shredder 

in California, at 1101 Embarcadero West, Oakland, California, 94607.  Schnitzer is a large, 

profitable, multinational company that can afford to comply with the CAA and implement best 

available control technologies necessary for protecting public health and the environment.  

Schnitzer’s operations include both acquiring, processing, and selling scrap metals, and 

manufacturing and selling finished steel products.  Over the last three years, Schnitzer has 

generated an average of over $2 billion in total revenue and $144 million in net income, with 

cashflow from operations averaging approximately $143 million. 

IV. STATUTORY FRAMEWORK 

15. This section outlines the provisions of the Clean Air Act and California State 
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Implementation Plan that are pertinent to this Complaint, explains the key statutory definitions, 

and provides an overview of the applicable permitting regime.  

A. Federal Clean Air Act 

16. The CAA establishes a comprehensive program “to protect and enhance the 

quality of the Nation’s air resources so as to promote the public health and welfare and the 

productive capacity of its population.”  42 U.S.C. § 7401(b)(1). 

17. The CAA requires EPA to promulgate National Ambient Air Quality Standards 

(“NAAQS”) for a number of “criteria pollutants,” including ground-level ozone.  Id. § 7409; 40 

C.F.R. pt. 50.  NAAQS are upper limits on air pollution in the ambient air designed to protect 

public health and welfare.  42 U.S.C. § 7409.  In accordance with the CAA, EPA determines 

whether air quality in a specified area is better or worse than the NAAQS for each criteria 

pollutant.  Id. § 7407(b) & (d).  An area that meets the NAAQS for a pollutant is known as an 

“attainment” area, id. § 7407(d)(1)(A)(ii), while one that exceeds the NAAQS is a 

“nonattainment” area, id. § 7407(d)(1)(A)(i). 

18. The San Francisco Bay Area, including Alameda County, is designated as a 

nonattainment area for the 2008 and 2015 8-hour ozone NAAQS and the 2006 PM2.5 NAAQS.  

See 40 C.F.R. §§ 81.305, 52.247.   

19. Ground-level ozone, the primary component of smog, is a poisonous gas created 

when VOCs and nitrogen oxides (“NOx”) react with sunlight.  Ozone poses numerous adverse 

health and environmental impacts.  Public health impacts from ozone exposure range from 

respiratory irritation and impairment to heart damage, hospitalization, and an increased risk of 

premature death.  Ground-level ozone further harms growing plants, causes defoliation of trees 

and crops, and can impair the healthy functioning of entire ecosystems.  See 40 C.F.R. § 

51.21(b)(50)(i)(b)(1) (“[V]olatile organic compounds and nitrogen oxides are precursors to 

ozone.”); see also id. § 51.100(s) (defining VOCs).   

20. Particulate matter (“PM”) is an inhalable mixture of solid particles and liquid 

droplets found in the air, and includes PM10 (particles smaller than 10 micrometers) and PM2.5 

(fine particles smaller than 2.5 micrometers).  Exposure to PM pollution has been linked to a wide 
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range of health problems, including premature death in people with heart or lung disease, heart 

attacks, decreased lung function, and respiratory symptoms such as irritation of the airways, 

coughing or difficulty breathing. 

21. Hazardous air pollutants (“HAPs”), such as,  benzene, cadmium, 

hexachloroethane, hexavalent chromium, lead, PCBs, toluene, trichloroethylene, and xylene, are 

pollutants listed in the CAA and subsequent EPA rulemakings that are known or suspected to 

cause cancer, other serious health effects such as respiratory issues and birth defects, or adverse 

environmental effects.  42 U.S. Code § 7412.  For example, toluene exposure causes central 

nervous system dysfunction, including narcosis, fatigue, headaches and nausea.
1
  Chronic 

exposure to xylenes causes “neurological effects such as headache, dizziness, fatigue, tremors, 

incoordination, anxiety, impaired short-term memory, and inability to concentrate,” and 

respiratory effects such as labored breathing.
2
   

B. California’s State Implementation Plan 

22. States work cooperatively with EPA to implement the CAA.  States prepare State 

Implementation Plans, or SIPs, that contain a collection of rules—“enforceable emission 

limitations and other control measures means, or techniques, … as well as schedules and 

timetables for compliance”—designed to, among other things, achieve and maintain compliance 

with the NAAQS.  42 U.S.C. § 7410(a)(2)(A).  The states submit their SIPs to EPA for approval.  

Id. § 7410(k)(1)-(4).  If found adequate and approved by EPA, a SIP becomes federal law and its 

provisions can be enforced by the state, EPA, or citizens.  Id. § 7604(a)(1), (f). 

23. EPA has approved California’s “Implementation Plan for Achieving and 

Maintaining the National Ambient Air Quality Standards.”  40 C.F.R. § 52.220. 

24. In California, local and regional agencies have the primary authority to control air 

 
1
 EPA, Toluene Fact Sheet, available at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-

09/documents/toluene.pdf. 

2 EPA, Xylenes(A) (Mixed Isomers) Fact Sheet, available at 
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-09/documents/xylenes.pdf. 
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pollution.  BAAQMD is tasked with regulating stationary sources of air pollution in the nine 

counties that surround the San Francisco Bay, including Alameda County, where Schnitzer’s 

Facility is located. 

25. BAAQMD has issued regulations and rules governing new sources of air 

pollution, and the modification and operation of existing sources of air pollution.  The 

BAAQMD rules and regulations cited in this Complaint that Schnitzer has violated have been 

approved by EPA and are part of the California SIP.  40 C.F.R. § 52.220.   

C. New Source Review and BACT Requirements 

26. Section 172 of the CAA requires a state with nonattainment areas to adopt, as part 

of its SIP, additional regulatory programs designed to achieve and maintain relevant NAAQS in 

those areas.  42 U.S.C. § 7502.   

27. In nonattainment areas such as the San Francisco Bay Area, the SIP must “require 

permits for the construction and operations of new or modified major stationary sources 

anywhere in the nonattainment area.”  42 U.S.C. § 7502(c)(5).  BAAQMD Regulation 2, Rule 2 

implements the federal nonattainment New Source Review (“NSR”) requirements and is 

incorporated into the California SIP.  See BAAQMD Rule 2-2-101.  This regulation requires a 

new or modified source of air pollution to comply with applicable NSR requirements.  See 

BAAQMD Rule 2-1-232 (definition of “new” source); BAAQMD Rule 2-1-234 (definition of 

“modification”).  

28. Substantive NSR permit requirements apply on a pollutant-specific basis.  These 

requirements include the use of Best Available Control Technology (“BACT”).  Under 

BAAQMD’s rules, BACT is equivalent to the stringent Lowest Achievable Emissions Rate 

standard used in the federal non-attainment NSR Program.  See BAAQMD Rule 2-2-202; 42 

U.S.C. § 7503; 40 C.F.R. §§ 51.165(i), 51.161.  BAAQMD Rule 2-2-202 defines BACT as:  

An emission limitation, control device, or control technique applied at a source 
that is the most stringent of: [t]he most effective emission control device or 
technique that has been successfully utilized for the type of equipment 
comprising such a source; or [t]he most stringent emission limitation achieved 
by an emission control device or technique for the type of equipment 
comprising such a source; or [t]he most effective control device or technique or 
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most stringent emission limitation that the APCO has determined to be 
technologically feasible for a source, taking into consideration cost-
effectiveness, any ancillary health and environmental impacts, and energy 
requirements; or [t]he most effective emission control limitation for the type of 
equipment comprising such a source that is contained in an approved 
implementation plan of any state, unless the applicant demonstrates to the 
satisfaction of the APCO that such limitation is not achievable. Under no 
circumstances shall BACT be less stringent than any emission control required 
by any applicable provision of federal, state or District laws, rules or 
regulations. 

29. A “permit to operate for a new or modified source shall require BACT to control 

emissions of a District BACT pollutant if the source will have the potential to emit that pollutant 

in an amount of 10.0 or more pounds on any day.”  BAAQMD Rule 2-2-301.  District BACT 

pollutants include “[p]recursor organic compounds (POC),
3
 non-precursor organic compounds 

(NPOC), oxides of nitrogen (NOx), sulfur dioxide (SO2), PM10, PM2.5, and carbon monoxide 

(CO).”  BAAQMD Rule 2-2-210.  The California SIP imposes an ongoing obligation on 

facilities to comply with BACT and other rules.   

D. BAAQMD Permitting Requirements 

30. BAAQMD Rule 2-1-301 requires any person who installs “any article, machine, 

equipment or other contrivance, the use of which may cause … the emission of air 

contaminants,” to first obtain an authority to construct (“ATC”).  In addition to obtaining an 

ATC, BAAQMD Rule 2-1-302 requires a facility to obtain a valid permit to operate (“PTO”) in 

order to use or operate any equipment that may cause the emission of air contaminants.   

31. A facility cannot construct or operate a source if it “would not or does not comply 

with any emission limitations or other regulations of the District … or with applicable permit 

conditions or federal or California laws or regulations.”  BAAQMD Rule 2-1-304.  In addition, 

issuance of an ATC and/or PTO “shall not relieve the owner and operator of the facility from the 

responsibility to comply fully with all applicable provisions of the state implementation plan for 

 
3 “Precursor Organic Compounds” (POCs) are “Any compound of carbon, excluding methane, 
carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, carbonic acid, metallic carbides or carbonates and ammonium 
carbonate.”  BAAQMD Rules 1-235, 1-233.  POCs participate in atmospheric photochemical 
reactions to create ozone pollution.  
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California and all other requirements under local, California and federal law.”  BAAQMD Rule 

2-1-321. 

32. A facility must renew its PTO annually.  In order to obtain a permit renewal, the 

PTO’s “permit conditions [must be] adequate to ensure compliance with, and the enforceability 

of,” BAAQMD rules and regulations.  Cal. Health & Saf. Code § 42301(e); see also Rule 2-6-

424 (“The APCO shall evaluate the applicability of [the Major Facility] rule to each facility as 

part of the District’s annual permit renewal process required by Health & Safety Code Section 

42301(e).”).  

E. Permitting Requirements under Title V of the CAA  

33. Title V of the CAA and BAAQMD’s implementing regulations require all major 

stationary sources of air pollution to undergo detailed review and obtain an operating permit.  42 

U.S.C. § 7661a(a).
4
   

34. A “Major Facility” is a facility that has the potential to emit 100 tons per year or 

more of any regulated air pollutant, 10 tons per year or more of a single hazardous air pollutant, 

or 25 tons per year or more of a combination of HAPs.  BAAQMD Rule 2-6-212; see also 42 

U.S.C. §§ 7661(2), 7602(j) (defining “major source” similarly).   

35. “Potential to emit” means the “maximum capacity of a stationary source to emit a 

pollutant under its physical and operational design.”  40 C.F.R. § 51.166(b)(4); see also 

BAAQMD Rule 2-1-217.   

36. Fugitive emissions
5
 of regulated air pollutants are ordinarily excluded from the 

determination of whether a facility is a major facility.  40 C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(1)(iii); 40 C.F.R. 

§ 70.2 (“Major Source” definition); BAAQMD Rule 2-6-212.1.  However, “[a]ll fugitive 

emissions of hazardous air pollutants are included in determining a facility’s potential to emit.”  

 
4 BAAQMD refers to such sources as “major facilities” that require a “Major Facility Review 
Permit,” while the CAA refers to such sources as “major sources” that require a “Title V permit.”   

5 Fugitive emissions are defined as emissions that “could not reasonably pass through a stack, 
chimney, vent or other functionally equivalent opening.”  40 C.F.R. § 52.21(b)(20); 40 C.F.R. § 
70.2; BAAQMD Rules 2-1-203, 2-6-209. 
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BAAQMD Rule 2-6-212.2.  Additionally, “[o]nce any facility is determined to be a major 

facility, all fugitive emissions from the facility shall be included in calculating the facility’s 

emissions.”  Id.   

37. The CAA and BAAQMD’s regulations have, at all relevant times, required that 

Title V permits include enforceable emission limitations and such other conditions as are 

necessary to ensure compliance with applicable requirements of the CAA and the requirements 

of the applicable SIP.  42 U.S.C. § 7661c(a); 40 C.F.R. § 70.6(a)(1); BAAQMD Regulation 2, 

Rule 6.  

38. Each state must develop and submit to EPA for approval a Title V operating 

permit program that conforms to certain minimum elements established by EPA regulations.  

42 U.S.C. § 7661a(d)(1); 40 C.F.R. § 70.1.  EPA approved BAAQMD’s Title V operating 

permitting program in 2001.  See Clean Air Act Full Approval of 34 Operating Permits Programs 

in California, 66 Fed. Reg. 63503 (Dec. 7, 2001).  Like the CAA, the California SIP imposes an 

ongoing obligation on facilities to comply with Title V requirements.  It is unlawful for any 

person to operate a major source except in compliance with a permit issued by a permitting 

authority under Title V.  BAAQMD Rule 2-1-302; see also 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a); 40 C.F.R. 

§ 70.7(b).  

F. Clean Air Act Citizen Enforcement 

39. Any person may commence a civil enforcement action under the CAA against any 

party “who is alleged to have violated ... or to be in violation of [] an emission standard or 

limitation.”  42 U.S.C. § 7604(a).  

40. An “emission standard or limitation” is, among other things, any “standard, 

limitation, or schedule established under any permit issued pursuant to subchapter V or under 

any applicable State implementation plan approved by the Administrator, any permit term or 

condition, and any requirement to obtain a permit as a condition of operations.”  Id. § 7604(f)(4). 

41. The BAAQMD rules and regulations cited in this Complaint have been approved 

by EPA and are enforceable under section 7604 of the CAA.  40 C.F.R. § 52.220(c).  The terms 

and conditions of any permit issued by BAAQMD pursuant to the California SIP, including the 
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conditions of Schnitzer’s permit to operate, are also enforceable under section 7604.  

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. Schnitzer’s Operations  

42. Schnitzer operates its Facility in Alameda County, which is designated as a 

nonattainment area for the 2008 and 2015 8-hour ozone NAAQS and for the 2006 PM2.5 

NAAQS.  

43. The Facility receives and stockpiles junked products containing metal, such as 

vehicles, appliances, construction and demolition materials, and manufacturing waste.  Junk 

vehicles and other metal-containing “feedstock” regularly contain hazardous materials.  

44. Schnitzer loads this stockpiled feedstock into the “mega shredder,” which reduces 

the feedstock to small pieces and releases emissions into the air.  From there, magnets remove 

ferrous (iron-containing) metals from the shredded feedstock.  The remaining material, called 

“metal shredder aggregate,” is dropped off a conveyor belt and stored in large, multiple-story 

high stockpiles outside and uncovered.  This aggregate typically contains non-ferrous metal and 

a mixture of material frequently called “metal shredder residue” or “metal shredder waste,” 

which consists of metals, plastics, rubber, glass, foam, fabrics, carpet, wood, residual automobile 

fluids, road dirt, and/or other debris.  

45. Schnitzer eventually moves stockpiled aggregate to the Facility’s “joint product 

plant,” where non-ferrous metals such as aluminum, copper, lead, and zinc are removed.  The 

remaining metal shredder residue is stockpiled, eventually “treated” (sprayed with a sodium or 

potassium silicate solution and an alkaline activator such as cement), and then again stockpiled 

outside of the joint products plant.  

46. Each step of the shredding process (including the stockpiling of material) emits 

air pollutants, including VOCs, particulate matter, and numerous HAPs.  

47. Every year, Schnitzer also uses torches and other equipment to process 

approximately 100,000 tons of larger metal-containing materials that are too large to go through 

the shredder.  This process also emits numerous, harmful air pollutants.    
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B. Schnitzer’s Permitting History and Emissions 

48. In 2006, Schnitzer applied for permits to construct and operate a new “mega-

shredder” at the Facility.     

49. Schnitzer began operating the mega-shredder on or about November 1, 2006.   

50. Schnitzer’s applications triggered NSR requirements under BAAQMD Rule 2-2 

and federal law.   

51. Because the Facility has the potential to emit 100 tons/year or more of certain 

criteria air pollutants, including VOCs, or established thresholds of regulated HAPs, Schnitzer 

was also required to complete Major Facility Review (Title V Review) and obtain a Major 

Facility Review Permit (Title V Permit) under the federal CAA Title V program.   

52. However, Schnitzer did not conduct Major Facility Review or obtain a Major 

Facility Review Permit. 

53. In April 2007, BAAQMD issued the Facility a PTO (“2007 PTO”) with a 

throughput limit (the amount of material that may pass through the shredder) of 431,471 tons per 

year.   

54. In 2009, the permitted maximum throughput processed by the mega-shredder was 

increased from 431,471 tons/yr to 720,000 tons/yr.   

55. In 2016, Schnitzer applied for a permit to modify the mega-shredder.  In 

processing this application, BAAQMD found that Schnitzer had not previously provided 

BAAQMD with accurate emissions rates for the mega-shredder.  BAAQMD stated that it lacked 

sufficient data to confirm whether NSR requirements were met with respect to permitting the 

mega-shredder and increased throughput, and required Schnitzer to complete source testing to 

inform whether it was in compliance with NSR requirements, including BACT.  See Exhibit 2 

(BAAQMD Engineering Evaluation Report, Schnitzer Steel Products Company, Plant Number 

208, Application Number 27762 (Nov. 11, 2016)). 

56. BAAQMD issued a new PTO on November 10, 2016.  BAAQMD imposed a 

permit condition (Condition No. 26401) requiring Schnitzer to conduct source tests and then 

propose emission rate limits for its shredder based on the source test results, which BAAQMD 
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would then impose as emissions limits, if acceptable to the agency.  This condition recognized 

the need to accurately determine Schnitzer’s emissions and then to set numerical limits and/or 

take other regulatory action based on Schnitzer’s actual emissions in order to ensure compliance 

with applicable laws, including NSR requirements.   

57. After enclosing the shredder in 2017, Schnitzer conducted several source tests, 

which demonstrated clear violations of the CAA and federally enforceable requirements of 

BAAQMD’s rules.   

58. On June 28-29, 2017, October 12-13, 2017, January 20-21, 2018, October 29-31, 

2018, and January 21-23, 2019, Schnitzer conducted testing at the shredder stack, including 

testing for VOCs, particulate matter, and some HAP emissions.   

59. The source testing of the mega-shredder confirmed that the Facility’s shredder 

emits at least 183 pounds per hour of POCs, well over the triggers for application of BACT 

requirements.  See Exhibit 1 at 19 (Table of POC Emissions).  This source test data shows that 

the Facility annually emits approximately 174 tons/year of POCs, well over the threshold at 

which a Title V / Major Facility Review Permit is required.  Id.; see BAAQMD Rule 2-6-212; 42 

U.S.C. §§ 7661(2), 7602(j). 

60. The table of source emissions attached to Schnitzer’s 2020-2021 permit to operate 

(“2021 PTO”) also confirms that Schnitzer’s emissions are well over the applicable Major 

Facility Review and BACT triggers.  See Exhibit 3 (2021 PTO).  Schnitzer’s shredder emits an 

annual average of 904 lbs/day of POCs, which amounts to 164.98 tons/year, while the associated 

“infeed conveyor” that supplies the shredder with metal-containing feedstock emits another 48 

lbs/day of POCs, which amounts to another 8.76 tons/year.  Other sources, such as the outfeed 

conveyor, stockpiles, and torch cutting, are not accounted for in this table but add still more 

pollutants.  

61. Emissions data regarding the Facility
6
 also show that the Facility has a potential 

 
6
 Emissions associated with the shredder aggregate when it is conveyed to the Joint Products 

Plant are based on emission testing conducted at wTe Recycling, Inc. shredding facility located 
in Greenfield, Massachusetts.  Montrose Environmental, Final Report, Scrap Metal Shredding 
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to emit more than 25 tons of HAPs a year, including more than 10 tons a year of both toluene 

and xylene.  The Facility’s HAP emissions therefore also trigger Title V / Major Facility Permit 

requirements. 

62. The 2021 PTO also imposes new emissions limits.  Condition # 27085 now 

imposes the following hourly and yearly emission limits for PM10 and POCs from the shredder:  

 

 

 

Additionally, Condition # 27085 requires that “[t]otal particulate emissions from the [shredder] 

stack shall not exceed a grain loading of 0.0046 grains/dscf” and that “[o]rganic emissions from  

[shredder] stack shall not exceed 300 ppmv (dry basis) of total carbon.”  

63. As confirmed by both the 2017-2019 source tests and the table attached to 

Schnitzer’s 2021 PTO, Schnitzer has violated and continues to violate all of the POC emission 

limits imposed by the PTO.   

64. To date, Schnitzer does not have emissions control equipment on its shredder or 

other physical or operational limitation that reduces its capacity to emit VOCs to below the 100 

tons per year major facility threshold.  Nor has Schnitzer installed any emissions control 

equipment or agreed to any other physical or operational limitation that reduces its facility-wide 

HAP emissions to below the 25 tons per year major facility threshold or toluene or xylene 

emissions below the 10 tons per year threshold.  Schnitzer has not installed BACT to control 

VOC emissions from the Facility.  And Schnitzer has not obtained a Title V permit for the 

Facility.   

65. Schnitzer has been operating in violation of Title V and BAAQMD’s federally 

 
and Processing Emissions Testing ‐ wTe Recycling, Inc., Greenfield, MA. 29 January 2016.  
That testing resulted in the development of emission factors for such processes that are used by 
regulators beyond just Massachusetts.  

Case 4:21-cv-05246-SBA   Document 1   Filed 07/07/21   Page 14 of 282



 

-15- 
COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF  

 

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

enforceable BACT requirement for VOCs since Schnitzer began operating the mega-shredder on 

or about November 2006 through the present day.  

66. Schnitzer, as the owner and operator of the Facility, is responsible for the 

Facility’s violations of the CAA.  Such violations have occurred and continue to occur at the 

Facility.  The violations first began at least when Schnitzer began operating the mega-shredder 

on or about November 2006 and they are still ongoing.  

67. On January 27, 2020, EPA issued a Notice of Violation (“NOV”) finding that 

Schnitzer has been violating Title V of the CAA and federally enforceable BAAQMD rules since 

at least 2007.  On information and belief, Plaintiff alleges that, as of the date of filing this 

Complaint, EPA is not diligently prosecuting the NOV in a court. 

68. In September 2020, BAAQMD and Schnitzer entered into a Compliance and 

Settlement Agreement concerning Schnitzer’s violation of total carbon limits imposed by 

BAAQMD Regulation 8-2-301.  The Agreement was not court-approved and did not address 

Schnitzer’s numerous other violations of air quality rules that are alleged here.  

69. In February 2021, the California Attorney General, the California Department of 

Toxic Substances Control (“DTSC”), and the District Attorney of the County of Alameda 

entered into a stipulated consent decree to resolve a complaint these agencies brought against 

Schnitzer.  This complaint and consent decree arose from these agencies’ investigation of 

Schnitzer’s dispersal of light fibrous material (“LFM”) into the community.  LFM is a fine 

material that includes a toxic amalgam of hazardous substances.  LFM frequently exceeds 

toxicity thresholds for hazardous waste under California law due to high concentrations of lead, 

copper, and zinc.  The consent decree requires Schnitzer to, among other things, implement an 

LFM inspection and clean-up plan.  The consent decree states that it does not resolve or in any 

way preclude claims under the Clean Air Act or BAAQMD’s Rules.    

70. In February 2021, DTSC issued a Corrective Action Order, which directed 

Schnitzer to stop releasing toxic pollution into the Oakland community.  The Order states that 

Schnitzer has consistently released LFM into the air and surrounding community, including areas 

owned by Plaintiff and visited by its employees.  DTSC, Enforcement Order for Corrective 
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Action, Docket No. HWCA-FY20/21-006 (Feb. 23, 2021) (“DTSC 2021 Order”).
7  The Order 

states that in November 2020, DTSC “conducted a survey of the neighborhood surrounding the 

Facility and observed LFM deposited at several locations,” including a parking lot where chalk 

drawings were observed, “indicating that the area may be used by children.”  Id. at 6.  The DTSC 

2021 Order also states that releases of LFM from the Facility have “migrated towards soil, 

groundwater, air, neighboring properties, and the Oakland Inner Harbor, causing potential risk to 

nearby residents, children, offsite workers, and ecological receptors.”  Id. at 10.  Schnitzer has 

submitted a Notice of Defense opposing the DTSC 2021 Order, making clear it intends to 

challenge the order.   

71. Notwithstanding the Compliance and Settlement Agreement, consent decree, and 

Corrective Action Order, Schnitzer’s ongoing violations of the Clean Air Act remain unresolved.  

Notably, the above agency actions did not address Schnitzer’s failure to undergo Major Facility 

review or obtain a Title V / Major Facility Permit.  Nor did they address Schnitzer’s unpermitted 

sources of air contaminants.  

C. Unpermitted Sources 

72. Schnitzer’s operations also consist of several other unpermitted sources of air 

contaminants at the Facility that are in violation of the CAA and BAAQMD Rules.  

73. As explained above, Schnitzer’s operations at the Facility produce aggregate and 

shredder residue that exceed toxicity thresholds for hazardous waste under California law due to 

high concentrations of lead, copper, and zinc.  See DTSC 2021 Order at 3.  Schnitzer stores this 

hazardous material in large, multistory stockpiles outside and uncovered, where contaminants 

can blow offsite into surrounding communities and the San Francisco Bay, and, as has occurred 

on numerous occasions, catch fire.  

74.  As DTSC has explained, the offsite, airborne migration of these materials can 

 
7 Available at https://envirostor.dtsc.ca.gov/public/deliverable_documents/5999845743/Enforce
mentOrder_for_CorrectiveAction_Schnitzer%20Oakland%20Feb%2023%202021%20SIGNED
.pdf.  
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“result in contamination of the metal shredding facilities and potentially the areas near the metal 

shredding facilities, and may result in both the public and other biological organisms coming into 

contact with or being exposed to these hazardous constituents, and potentially suffering negative 

health impacts and harm.”
8  Indeed, multiple agencies have found that releases from Schnitzer’s 

Facility “have or may have migrated towards soil, groundwater, air, neighboring properties, and 

the Oakland Inner Harbor, causing potential risk to nearby residents, children, offsite workers, 

and ecological receptors.”  DTSC 2021 Order at 10. 

75. Schnitzer’s large stockpiles of toxic materials are a “source” of pollutants, which 

could reasonably be made to pass through a stack by enclosing them.
9
  Other metal shredders have 

enclosed stockpiles indoors, which, combined with other control measures, would substantially 

reduce emissions from them. 

76. Other industries that stockpile materials also enclose their stockpiles and 

conveyors in order to control emissions.  For example, a proposed coal facility in West Oakland, 

whose operations would involve stockpiles larger in size than Schnitzer’s stockpiles, proposed to 

enclose its stockpiles in order to control emissions from them.
10

  Similarly, the Draft 

Supplemental Environmental Impact Report (“SEIR”) for the Eagle Rock Aggregate project at 

 
8
 DTSC, Draft Evaluation and Analysis of Metal Shredding Facilities and Metal Shredder Wastes 

(Jan. 2018) at 61-62, 67, 112, available at https://dtsc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/31
/2017/01/Metal-Shredder-Analysis-DRAFT.pdf; see also DTSC 2021 Order, at 2 (“Samples of 
LFM have been shown to meet the criteria for hazardous waste in California Samples of LFM have 
been shown to meet the criteria for hazardous waste in California due to concentrations of metals 
at levels exceeding the toxicity criteria defined in California Code of Regulations, title 22, section 
66261.24 (a)(2)(A).”). 
9 See BAAQMD Rule 2-6-209 (defining “Fugitive Emissions” as “[a]ll emissions from unintended 
openings in process equipment, emissions occurring from miscellaneous activities relating to the 
operation of a facility, and emissions that could not reasonably pass through a stack, chimney, 
vent, or other functionally equivalent opening”) 40 C.F.R. § 70.2 (“Fugitive emissions are those 
emissions which could not reasonably pass through a stack, chimney, vent, or other functionally-
equivalent opening.”). 
10 See Erin Baldassari, Supporters of shipping coal through Oakland say it will bring jobs, East 
Bay Times (May 24, 2016), https://www.eastbaytimes.com/2016/05/23/supporters-of-shipping-
coal-through-oakland-say-it-will-bring-jobs/ (depicting proposed enclosure of stockpiles and 
conveyors). 
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the Oakland Harbor proposes an alternative pursuant to which a large building “would enclose 

the approximately 14 acres occupied by the three [40-feet tall] stockpiles, conveyor system, and 

truck loading operations” in order to control emissions of air pollutants.
11

  Additionally, other air 

permitting agencies have required full enclosure of similar petcoke and manganese stockpiles.
12

  

Further demonstrating that its stockpiles reasonably can be enclosed and should be in order to 

control emissions, Schnitzer has recently stated that it intends to fully enclose indoor storage and 

truck-loading areas for treated metal shredder residue.   

77. Yet Schnitzer has not enclosed its multi-story stockpiles of untreated, toxic metal 

shredder aggregate and other materials.  Schnitzer’s stockpiles emit, PM, POCs, HAPs, and other 

pollutants as a result of off-gassing, wind erosion, and materials handling.  Available data shows 

that the stockpiles and associated operations have a potential to emit pollutants at levels that are 

many times greater than applicable chronic trigger levels.
13

   

 
11 SEIR, available at https://www.portofoakland.com/files/PDF/ERA%20Draft%20SEIR_11042
0.pdf.  
12 See South Coast Air Quality Management District Rule 1158 at Section (d)(2), available at 
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/rule-book/reg-xi/rule-1158.pdf (petcoke stockpiles); 
Department of Public Health of the City of Chicago, Large Recycling Facility Rules at Section 
4.4.2, available at https://www.chicago.gov/content/dam/city/depts/cdph/Inspectionsand
Permitting/CDPH%20Rules%20for%20Large%20Recycling%20Facilities_Issued%20June%205
,%202020.pdf (petcoke and manganese stockpiles).  
13

 BAAQMD chronic trigger levels are specified in BAAQMD Regulation 2, Rule 1.  Chronic 
trigger levels are based on a lifetime cancer risk of 1.0 in a million (10-6) or a non-cancer hazard 
index of 0.2, whichever is stricter. 
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78. Beyond the emissions caused by off-gassing, wind erosion, and materials 

handling, the stockpiles also have caught fire on numerous occasions, emitting toxic smoke 

across Oakland. All of these concerns highlight the necessity of controlling the stockpiles in 

compliance with the CAA.
14

  

79. Schnitzer also uses torch cutting to break apart large metal pieces of metal.  Torch 

cutting is a regular, fixed part of Schnitzer’s operations.  Schnitzer maintains a designated area of 

the Facility for torch cutting.  Torch cutting vaporizes metal, resulting in emissions of fine 

particulate matter (PM2.5) and metals, including nickel, cadmium, hexavalent chromium, 

copper, lead, and other HAPs.
15

  Like its stockpiles, Schnitzer’s torch cutting is not addressed in 

the Facility’s permit to operate.  

 
14

 Photo from Kimberly Veklerov, Fire at Oakland recycling plant sends black plume into sky, 
SF Gate (June 4, 2018), https://www.sfgate.com/bayarea/article/Fire-at-Oakland-recycling-plant-
sends-black-plume-12963199.php  
15 Raun, et al. Unanticipated Potential Cancer Risk Near Metal Recycling Facilities, 
Environmental Impact Assessment Review, Vol. 41, 2013, at 71-72; New York State Department 
of Health, Metal Recycling Industry Project (Jun. 2007), at 3, available at https://www.health.
ny.gov/environmental/workplace/metal_recycling/docs/metal_recycling_report.pdf; University 
of Texas, 2018 MAPPS Report, Fifth Ward/Northside Near CMC Recycling (Oct. 2018) at 5; 
University of Texas, 2018 MAPPS Report, Magnolia Park near Cronimet (Oct. 2018) at 5; 
University of Texas, 2018 MAPPS Report, South Park near Allied Alloys (Oct. 2018) at 5. 
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80. Other metal shredding facilities in California are significantly smaller than 

Schnitzer but subject to stricter control technology requirements and lower emissions limits.  For 

example, metal shredders in the South Coast Air Quality Management District (“SCAQMD”) 

that are smaller than Schnitzer have installed regenerative thermal oxidizers and other controls 

for emissions of VOCs.
16

  Schnitzer has not installed these control technologies despite emitting 

more of these pollutants than any other shredder in California.   

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

CAA Citizen Suit Claim for Violations of Major Facility Review and Title V Requirements 

81. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates the allegations set forth herein.  

82. Schnitzer is a “major facility” and a “major source” within the meaning of Title V 

of the CAA and the California SIP due to its excessive emissions of VOCs and HAPs.  However, 

Schnitzer has never undergone Title V / Major Facility Review or obtained a Title V / Major 

Facility Review Permit.  

83. Since at least 2007, Schnitzer has operated the Facility in violation of the Title V 

and federally enforceable BAAQMD rules.  42 U.S.C. §§ 7661a–7661(f); 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b); 

BAAQMD Rules 2-1-302.1 and 2-6-301.  These violations are enforceable under the Clean Air 

Act’s citizen suit provision, 42 U.S.C. § 7604.  

84. On information and belief, Plaintiff alleges that these violations are continuing. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

CAA Citizen Suit Claim for Violations of NSR Requirements 

85. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates the allegations set forth herein. 

86. Federally enforceable BAAQMD regulations require any source that emits any 

District BACT pollutant in an amount of 10.0 or more pounds on any day to install BACT.  

 
16 See e.g., PTO for SA Recycling, 3200 E. Frontera St., Anaheim, CA 92806-2822, issued by the 
SCAQMD , Permit No. G51109 A/N 597974 (Mar. 14, 2018) at 1; Permit to Operate for Ecology 
Recycling Services, 785 E. M Street, Colton, CA 92324, issued by SCAQMD, Permit No. G50084 
A/N 599646 (Jan. 11, 2018), at 1; Permit to Operate for SA Recycling, 901 New Dock St., 
Terminal Island, CA 90731, issued by SCAQMD, Permit No. G38284 A/N 567982 (Dec. 9, 2015) 
at 1.  
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BAAQMD Rules 2-2-301, 2-2-202; 40 C.F.R § 52.220(c)(502)(i)(A)(1).  These BACT 

requirements are enforceable under the Clean Air Act’s citizen suit provision, 42 U.S.C. § 7604.  

87. Source testing of the mega-shredder conducted on June 28-29, 2017, October 12-

13, 2017, January 20-21, 2018, October 29-31, 2018, and January 21-23, 2019, confirmed that 

the Facility’s shredder emits up to 227 pounds per hour of POCs.  See Exhibit 1 at 19 (Table of 

POC Emissions).  

88. The table of source emissions attached to the 2021 PTO also shows that 

Schnitzer’s shredder emits an annual average of 904 lbs/day of POCs, which amounts to 164.98 

tons/year.  The associated “infeed conveyor” that supplies the shredder with metal-containing 

feedstock emits an additional 48 lbs/day of POCs, which amounts to another 8.76 tons/year. 

89. POCs emissions from the shredder and conveyors therefore significantly exceed 

the emission threshold for BACT, which is 10 pounds of POC emissions on any day.  See 

BAAQMD Rule 2-2-301.  However, Schnitzer has not installed BACT for POCs.  Accordingly, 

Schnitzer has been violating BAAQMD’s BACT requirements since at least 2006.  See 

BAAQMD Rules 2-2-301 and 2-2-302.  

90. On information and belief, Plaintiff alleges that these violations are continuing.  

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

CAA Citizen Suit Claim for Violations of Permit Conditions 

91. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates the allegations set forth herein. 

92. Any term or condition contained in any permit issued under an applicable SIP is 

an “emission standard or limitation” that is enforceable through a CAA citizen suit.  42 U.S.C. § 

7604(f)(4). 

93.  Schnitzer’s permits to operate, including the 2021 PTO, were issued pursuant to 

BAAQMD regulations that have been approved by EPA and incorporated into the California 

SIP.  40 C.F.R. § 52.220(c)(502)(i)(A)(1). 

94. The 2021 PTO applies to Schnitzer’s mega-shredder, infeed conveyor, cement 

silo, auto body component screener, drum magnet line with enclosure, and related abatement 

equipment.  Condition # 27085 limits POC emissions from the shredder to less than 112 
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pounds/hour and 85.5 tons/year.   

95. Schnitzer has violated and continues to violate these POC emission limits.  The 

2021 PTO itself shows in the table provided that Schnitzer’s shredder emits an annual average of 

904 lbs/day of POCs, which amounts to 164.98 tons/year, while the associated “infeed conveyor” 

that supplies the shredder with metal-containing feedstock emits another 48 lbs/day of POCs, 

which amounts to another 8.76 tons/year.  Other sources at the Facility, including stockpiles, 

other conveyors, torch cutting, and the joint products plant, emit additional, substantial quantities 

of VOCs and other pollutants.  

96. Schnitzer is violating Condition # 27085 of the PTO and is therefore in violation 

of enforceable emission standards or limitations under the CAA. 

97. On information and belief, Plaintiff alleges that these violations are ongoing. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

CAA Citizen Suit Claim for Operation of Unpermitted Air Pollutant Sources 

98. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates the allegations set forth herein. 

99. The CAA and BAAQMD rules prohibit the operation of any source of air 

pollutants without a permit.  BAAQMD Rules 2-1-301, 2-1-302, 2-1-401, 2-2-302; 40 C.F.R. § 

70.7(b).   

100. Schnitzer operates stockpiles and torch cutting activities at the Facility.  Each of 

these sources emits air pollutants, including PM, POCs, and HAPs.   

101. Schnitzer’s existing PTO does not cover these sources of air pollutants.  There is 

no applicable exemption allowing Schnitzer to operate these sources without a permit. Schnitzer 

is currently operating these sources without a permit, in violation of the CAA and federally 

enforceable BAAQMD rules.  These requirements are enforceable under the Clean Air Act’s 

citizen suit provision, 42 U.S.C. § 7604. 

102. Emissions from these sources can reasonably be controlled through enclosure and 

installation of emissions control technologies, as illustrated by similar sources’ enclosure of 

stockpiles to control emissions.  

103. In addition to being unpermitted, BACT and other requirements that flow from 
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permitting have not been met with respect to these emissions.   

104. On information and belief, Plaintiff alleges that these violations are ongoing.  

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

105. Plaintiff hereby demands a jury trial. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays for this Court to: 

A. Declare that Defendant has violated the Clean Air Act, relevant portions of the 

California SIP, and conditions of its Permit to Operate; 

B. Order Defendant to cease violating the Clean Air Act and California SIP and enjoin 

Schnitzer’s operations causing the violations.   

C. Order Defendant to take other appropriate actions, including beneficial mitigation 

projects authorized under the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7604(g)(2), to remedy, 

mitigate, and offset the harm to the public health and the environment caused by the 

violations of the Clean Air Act alleged above; 

D. Assess civil penalties against Defendant pursuant to section 304(a) of the Clean Air 

Act, 42 U.S.C § 7604(a)(3);  

E. Award Plaintiff its costs and attorneys and expert witness fees related to this action 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 7604(d); 

F. Grant such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 
Dated: July 7, 2021   VENABLE LLP 

 
 
/s/ William. M. Sloan 

 By: William M.  Sloan  
Tyler G.  Welti 

  
Attorneys for Plaintiff ATHLETICS 
INVESTMENT GROUP LLC 
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February 5, 2021 T 415.653.3750 
F 415.653.3755 
WMSloan@Venable.com 
TGWelti@Venable.com 

 
 

VIA E-MAIL and CERTIFIED U.S. MAIL  

Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc. c/o CT Corporation System  
818 West Seventh St., Suite 930 
Los Angeles, CA 90017 
 
Schnitzer Steel Products Company  
1101 Embarcadero West  
Oakland, CA, 94607  
 
 
Re: Notice of Intent to Sue Pursuant to the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7604(b)(1)(A) 

This letter provides notice under the Clean Air Act (CAA), 42 U.S.C. § 7604(b)(1)(A), and 
40 C.F.R. Part 54 that the Oakland Athletics (A’s) intends to file a citizen suit against Schnitzer 
Steel Industries, Inc. for ongoing violations of the CAA at the Schnitzer Steel Metals Recycling 
Yard and Port (the Facility) in Oakland, as detailed below.  Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc. operates 
the Facility under the name Schnitzer Steel Products Company (Schnitzer). 
 
I. Background 

 
A. Schnitzer’s Oakland Facility  

 
As you are aware, Schnitzer’s Oakland Facility is the largest metal shredding facility in 

California.  Its operations consist of shredding hundreds of thousands of tons a year of junk 
automobiles, appliances, and other metal-containing materials in a “mega-shredder,” and removing 
ferrous (iron-containing) and non-ferrous metals.  This shredding process and associated 
operations emit substantial amounts of numerous criteria air pollutants and toxic air contaminants 
(TACs). 

 
The Facility is located in Alameda County, which is designated as a nonattainment area for 

the 2015 8-hour ozone national ambient air quality standard (NAAQS) and for the 2006 PM2.5 
NAAQS.1  More specifically, the Facility is located in West Oakland, a low-income community 

 
1 U.S. EPA, Green Book, California Nonattainment/Maintenance Status for Each County by Year for All 
Criteria Pollutants (current as of Sept. 30, 2020), https://www3.epa.gov/airquality/greenbook/anayo_ca.html; 
see also Additional Air Quality Designations for the 2015 Ozone National Ambient Air Quality Standards, 83 
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of color with a long, well-documented history of suffering environmental pollution.  Numerous 
“sensitive receptors,” including schools, daycare centers, hospitals, senior living centers, parks, 
and several residential neighborhoods are located within a mile of the Facility, in addition to 
approximately 23,000 fulltime residents.  Thousands more are present during the day in this area, 
which includes parts of downtown Oakland, busy commercial districts in Alameda, and all of Jack 
London Square, including its harbor and ferry terminals. 

 
B. Schnitzer’s air pollution emissions and permitting history  

 
Schnitzer applied for a permit to construct and operate a new mega-shredder in 2006 and 

began operating the shredder on or about November 1, 2006.  On or about April 26, 2007, the Bay 
Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) issued Schnitzer a permit to operate (PTO).  
The PTO included a throughput limit, which is a cap on the amount of metal feedstock that 
Schnitzer is permitted to shred, of 431,471 tons per year (tpy).  Soon thereafter, Schnitzer applied 
to increase the throughput limit processed by the shredder from 431,471 tpy to 720,000 tpy.  

 
Schnitzer’s applications for the new mega-shredder triggered New Source Review (NSR) 

requirements under BAAQMD Rule 2-2 and federal law, as well as toxic NSR requirements under 
BAAQMD Rule 2-5.  While BAAQMD issued a permit for the new mega-shredder, BAAQMD 
later acknowledged that emissions from the mega-shredder were not properly estimated and 
evaluated and, therefore, additional best available control technology (BACT) and offsets may be 
required by law.  BAAQMD moved to address these issues in 2016, when Schnitzer applied for 
an Authority to Construct (ATC) and a PTO for an enclosure and upgraded abatement system for 
the mega-shredder designed to improve the capture rate for shredder emissions of particulate 
pollution.  In reviewing the application, BAAQMD recognized that Schnitzer had not accurately 
quantified the shredder’s emission rates and health risk, and therefore there was not sufficient data 
to confirm whether NSR and toxic NSR requirements were met with respect to permitting the 
mega-shredder, increased throughput, and associated emissions.2   

 

 
Fed. Reg. 25776, 25789 (June 4, 2018).  The CAA requires the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 
to divide each state into air quality control regions.  Each region is designated as either “attainment” or 
“nonattainment” for each identified pollutant, depending on whether air quality in that area meets the NAAQS 
for that pollutant.   
2 See 2016 Engineering Report at 2 (stating BAAQMD would use new emission estimates “to determine if all 
new source review (NSR) and toxic NSR requirements for . . . previous permitting activities were fully complied 
with.  If the District finds that NSR has not been fully satisfied, the District will require updated reviews, limits, 
offsets, and health risk assessments under this application, as needed, to ensure full NSR compliance for . . . 
previous permitting activities.”).  
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Accordingly, BAAQMD required Schnitzer to conduct source tests to determine whether 
these previous permitting activities fully complied with NSR and toxic NSR requirements.3  As 
BAAQMD explained, the intended approach was to “require updated reviews, limits, offsets, and 
health risk assessments under this application, as needed, to ensure full NSR compliance for . . . 
previous permitting activities.”4  BAAQMD further explained that the “[e]missions data from the 
planned source test and the recalculation of total permitted emissions for the shredder will be used 
to determine POC [precursor organic compounds] BACT and offset applicability.”5  BAAQMD 
also required Schnitzer to propose emission rate limits for its shredder based on the source test 
results, which would then be imposed as emission limits in Schnitzer’s PTO, if acceptable.6  

 
The history of Schnitzer’s PTO—which must be renewed annually and states that it covers 

the Facility’s mega-shredder, infeed conveyor, cement silo, auto body component screener, drum 
magnet line with enclosure, and related abatement equipment—has reflected this approach.  For 
example, Schnitzer’s 2019-2020 PTO still did not specify emission limits.  Rather, the PTO 
included a condition (Condition # 26401) that recognized the need to understand Schnitzer’s 
emissions and then to set numerical limits based on them that ensure compliance with applicable 
laws, including NSR requirements.  The condition required Schnitzer to complete source tests and 
then propose emission limits.  BAAQMD would then review the proposed emission limits and 
include them in the permit if they satisfy applicable requirements.   

 
After enclosing the shredder in 2017, Schnitzer conducted several source tests, which 

demonstrated clear violations of the CAA and federally enforceable requirements of BAAQMD’s 
rules.  On June 28-29, 2017, October 12-13, 2017, January 20-21, 2018, October 29-31, 2018, and 
January 21-23, 2019, Schnitzer conducted testing at the shredder stack, including testing for 
volatile organic compounds (VOCs),7 particulate matter, and TAC emissions.  The tests show that 
the shredder has a potential to emit numerous TACs—including benzene, cadmium, hexavalent 
chromium, lead, PCBs, and trichloroethylene—at levels that are many times greater than 
applicable chronic trigger levels.8  The test results also show that the shredder’s potential to emit 

 
3 Id. (directing Schnitzer to “conduct a series of [BAAQMD] approved source tests” required “to determine if 
all . . . toxic NSR requirements for these previous permitting activities were fully complied with”).  
4 Id.  
5 Id. at 4.  
6 2016 Engineering Report at 2; see also id. at 3 (“[T]he District will evaluate past NSR permitting activities for 
the S-6 shredder to ensure NSR has been fully satisfied.  This may include adjustments to the offsets required 
for the shredder replacement and expansion projects . . . .”).  
7 VOCs include precursor organic compounds (POCs).  
8 The Facility’s potential to emit these pollutants is shown by emission rates derived from these source test 
results and the Facility’s authorized throughput capacity of 720,000 tons/year.  See BAAQMD Rule 2-1-217 
(definition of “potential to emit”); Prevention of Significant Deterioration (PSD) and Nonattainment New 
Source Review (NSR): Baseline Emissions Determination, Actual-to-Future-Actual Methodology, Plantwide 
Applicability Limitations, Clean Units, Pollution Control Projects, Fed. Reg. 80186, 80190-91 (Dec. 31, 2002). 
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VOCs and actual emissions of VOCs have been in excess of the applicable major source threshold 
of 100 tpy.9  Therefore, the Facility is a Major Facility under BAAQMD’s rules and a Major Source 
under the CAA, and has been since at least 2007, when Schnitzer began operating the new mega-
shredder.10  Despite these high emissions, the Facility has not gone through Major Facility Review 
and does not have a Major Facility Permit (a Title V Permit), which is required  before operations 
continue.  The source test results further show that Schnitzer must include BACT for POC 
emissions, as the CAA and federally enforceable BAAQMD rules require.   

 
In December 2020, BAAQMD issued Schnitzer a new PTO that includes several new and 

modified permit conditions.  Condition # 27085 now imposes the following hourly and yearly 
emission limits for PM10 and precursor organic compounds (POCs) from the shredder:  

 

 
 

Additionally, Condition # 27085 now requires that “[t]otal particulate emissions from the 
[shredder] stack shall not exceed a grain loading of 0.0046 grains/dscf” and that “[o]rganic 
emissions from  [shredder] stack shall not exceed 300 ppmv (dry basis) of total carbon.”11  As 
further explained below and confirmed by both the 2017-2019 source tests and the table attached 
to Schnitzer’s 2020-2021 PTO, Schnitzer has violated and continues to violate all of these POC 
and organic emission limits in its PTO.  Reflecting the need to install BACT for POC emissions, 
Paragraph 4 of Condition # 27085 also recognizes that Schnitzer must install “an organic 
abatement system.”12  To date, Schnitzer has not installed the required organic abatement system. 
 

 
BAAQMD chronic trigger levels are specified in BAAQMD Regulation 2, Rule 5.  Chronic trigger levels 
under that Regulation are based on a lifetime cancer risk of 1.0 in a million (10-6) or a non-cancer hazard 
index of 0.2, whichever is stricter. 
9 See 42 U.S.C. § 7661(a) (making it unlawful to operate a major source except in compliance with a Title V 
permit); 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b) (requires a major source to submit a timely and complete application under an 
approved permit program); BAAQMD Rule 2-6-212 (defining “Major Facility”); BAAQMD Rule 2-1-302 
(requiring any major facility to comply with BAAQMD Rule 2-6).   
10 See 42 U.S.C. § 7661(2); BAAQMD Rule 2-6-212.   
11 The 2021 PTO still does not include emission limits on numerous TACs emitted by the Facility.  
12 Paragraph 4 states that “quarterly monitoring shall continue until an organic abatement system is operating 
and continued compliance with Regulation 8-2-301 has been demonstrated.” (Emphasis added.) 
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The significance of the test results has been confirmed by the U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA).  On January 27, 2020, EPA issued Schnitzer a Notice of Violation 
(NOV), confirming that the source tests show that Schnitzer has been in violation of Title V of the 
CAA and federally enforceable BAAQMD rules since it began operating the shredder in 2007.13  
As of the date of this letter, EPA has not filed suit against Schnitzer with respect to the violations 
outlined in the NOV or any of the other violations identified below.  
 
II. Description of Schnitzer’s Violations of the Clean Air Act and Federally 

Enforceable BAAQMD Rules  
 

Schnitzer, as the owner and operator of the Facility, is responsible for the violations raised 
by this notice.  The violations have occurred and continue to occur at the Schnitzer Steel Metals 
Recycling Yard and Port located at 1101 Embarcadero West, Oakland, CA 94607.  The violations 
that are the subject of this notice began as early as April 26, 2007, and are ongoing.  

 
Pursuant to Section 7661(a) of the CAA, it is unlawful to operate a major source or any 

other source required to have a permit except in compliance with a Title V permit.14  Further, 
sections 7604(a) and (f) impose liability for violation of any “emission standard or limitation,” 
which is defined to include any “standard, limitation, or schedule established under any permit 
issued . . . under any applicable State implementation plan approved by [EPA], any permit term or 
condition, and any requirement to obtain a permit as a condition of operations.”15  BAAQMD’s 
rules and regulations referenced in this notice are part of the California SIP and/or have otherwise 
been approved by EPA pursuant to the CAA.16  Accordingly, the BAAQMD rules referenced 
below are enforceable under Section 7604 of the CAA.  The terms and conditions of any permit 
issued by BAAQMD pursuant to the California SIP, including the conditions of BAAQMD’s 
permit to operate that are referenced below, also are enforceable under Section 7604.17  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
13 Finding and Notice of Violation to Schnitzer Steel Industries from U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
Region 9 (Jan. 27, 2020) at 8.  
14 42 U.S.C. § 7661a; see also 40 C.F.R. § 70.2 (defining major source).  
15 42 U.S.C. §§ 7604(a), (f).  
16 See EPA-Approved Bay Area Air District Regulations in the California SIP, https://www.epa.gov/sips-
ca/epa-approved-bay-area-air-district-regulations-california-sip; see also 40 C.F.R. § 52.220 (listing provisions 
included in the California SIP).   
17 See 42 U.S.C. §§ 7604(a), (f). 
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A. Violations of Title V Permit Requirements 
 
1. Legal background  

Under Section 7661(a) of the CAA, it is unlawful to operate a major source except in 
compliance with a Title V permit.18  Relatedly, 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b) requires a major source to 
submit a timely and complete application under an approved permit program, such as a state 
permit program established to meet the requirements of Title V.   

 
BAAQMD’s federally enforceable rules impose similar requirements.  BAAQMD Rule 2-

1-302, which has been approved by EPA and is part of the California SIP, requires a person to 
obtain a PTO before using or operating any article, machine, equipment, or other contrivance, the 
use of which may cause, reduce, or control the emission of air contaminants.  In addition to 
securing a PTO, Rule 2-1-302 requires any Major Facility to comply with BAAQMD Regulation 
2, Rule 6 (“Major Facility Review”).  Rule 2-6 was adopted to meet the requirements of Title V 
and 40 C.F.R. Part 70.  The rule establishes the procedures for Major Facilities to obtain Title V 
permits and other requirements applicable to such Major Facilities.  BAAQMD Rule 2-6-212 
defines a “Major Facility” as a “facility that has the potential to emit 100 tons per year or more of 
any regulated air pollutant” or a “facility that has the potential to emit 10 tons per year or more of 
a single hazardous air pollutant, 25 tons per year or more of a combination of hazardous air 
pollutants, or such lesser quantity as the EPA Administrator may establish by rule.”19  The 
definition of “regulated air pollutant” explicitly includes VOCs.20 

 
2. Schnitzer’s violations 

As detailed above, source testing conducted on October 29-31, 2018, and January 21-23, 
2019, showed that the mega-shredder has the potential to emit more than 100 tons per year of 
VOCs.  Accordingly, the Facility is a Major Facility under BAAQMD’s rules, and the shredder is 
a major source under the CAA.21 

 

 
18 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a); see also 40 C.F.R. § 70.2 (defining major source). Under the CAA, a “major source” 
is defined as a stationary source or group of stationary sources that emit or have the potential to emit over 100 
tons per year of regulated air pollutants, 10 tons per year or more of a hazardous air pollutant, or 25 tons per 
year or more of a combination of hazardous air pollutants.  Id. 
19 See also BAAQMD Rule 2-1-2 17 (defining PTE); BAAQMD Rule 2-6-222 (defining regulated air 
pollutants). 
20 BAAQMD Rule 2-6-222.  
21 See 42 U.S.C. § 7661(2); BAAQMD Rule 2-6-212.  The mega-shredder’s PTE was calculated using its 
maximum throughput and emissions factors shown by the source test results. 
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It follows that, since at least April 26, 2007, Schnitzer has been operating the Facility in 
violation of the Title V of the Clean Air Act and federally enforceable BAAQMD rules, including 
CAA section 502 (42 U.S.C. §§ 7661a–7661f), 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b), BAAQMD Rule 2-1-302, and 
BAAQMD Rule 2-6.  Schnitzer has failed to complete Major Facility Review and to obtain a 
Major Facility Permit.  To date, Schnitzer has still not received a Title V permit from BAAQMD 
and therefore should not be operating the shredder and associated sources of air pollution.   

 
B. Violations of New Source Review Requirements   

 
1. Legal background 

Section 172 of the CAA requires states with nonattainment areas to adopt as part of its SIP 
additional regulatory programs designed to achieve and maintain relevant NAAQS in those areas.22 
The state’s plan for nonattainment areas must “require permits for the construction and operations 
of new or modified major stationary sources anywhere in the nonattainment area.”23  Such a permit 
is known as a nonattainment New Source Review (NSR) permit.24 BAAQMD Regulation 2, Rule 
2 was incorporated into the California SIP to implement the federal nonattainment NSR 
requirements.25  Under BAAQMD Regulation 2-2, NSR applies to a facility that installs a new 
source or modifies an existing source that will increase the facility’s air emissions.26  While all 
new or modified sources must undergo NSR, the substantive NSR permit requirements apply on a 
pollutant-specific basis.27   

 

 
22 42 U.S.C. § 7502. 
23 Id. See also 42 U.S.C. § 7503; 40 C.F.R. § 51.165 (requirements for permits to construct and operate). 
24 Under the CAA, a major NSR permit must require 1) installation of the Lowest Achievable Emission Rate 
(LAER); 2) emission offsets; and 3) public involvement during the permit issuance process. 42 U.S.C. § 7503; 
40 C.F.R. §§ 51.165(i), 51.161. The CAA defines a “major” source as “a facility that has the potential to emit 
100 tons per year or more” of volatile organic compounds (VOCs).” 40 C.F.R. § 51.165(a)(iv)(A). However, 
federally enforceable state rules (i.e., those included in a state’s SIP) may be stricter than the CAA 
requirements.  
25 BAAQMD Rule 2-2-101.  
26 BAAQMD Rule 2-1-232 (definition of “new” source); BAAQMD Rule 2-1-234 (definition of 
“modification”).  
27 BAAQMD, Complex New Source Review Permitting Handbook, at 40 (2016).  
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Two substantive NSR permit requirements are (1) Best Available Control Technology 
(BACT),28 and (2) offsets.29  Under BAAQMD Rule 2-2-301, a “permit to operate for a new or 
modified source shall require BACT to control emissions of a District BACT pollutant if the source 
will have the potential to emit that pollutant in an amount of 10.0 or more pounds on any day.” 
District BACT pollutants are POCs, non-precursor organic compounds (NPOC), oxides of 
nitrogen (NOx), sulfur dioxide (SO2), PM10, PM2.5, and carbon monoxide.30  Additionally, offset 
requirements apply at any “facility that will have the potential to emit more than 10 tons per year 
of NOx or POC after the new or modified source is constructed,”31 or any “facility that will have 
the potential to emit 100 tons per year or more of PM2.5, PM10 or sulfur dioxide after the new or 
modified source is constructed.”32 

 
2. Schnitzer’s violations 

Source testing of the mega-shredder conducted on October 29-31, 2018, and January 21-
23, 2019, confirmed that the Facility’s shredder emits at least 183 pounds per hour of POCs, well 
over the triggers for application of BACT and offset requirements.33  The table of source emissions 
attached to Schnitzer’s recently issued 2020-2021 PTO also confirms that Schnitzer’s emissions 
are well over the applicable BACT and offset trigger.  The table states that Schnitzer’s shredder 
emits an annual average of 904 lbs/day of POCs, which amounts to 164.98 tons/year, while the 
associated “infeed conveyor” that supplies the shredder with metal-containing feedstock emits 
another 48 lbs/day of POCs, which amounts to another 8.76 tons/years.   
 

 
28 BACT is defined at BAAQMD Rule 2-2-202 as: “An emission limitation, control device, or control 
technique applied at a source that is the most stringent of: [t]he most effective emission control device or 
technique that has been successfully utilized for the type of equipment comprising such a source; or [t]he most 
stringent emission limitation achieved by an emission control device or technique for the type of equipment 
comprising such a source; or [t]he most effective control device or technique or most stringent emission 
limitation that the APCO has determined to be technologically feasible for a source, taking into consideration 
cost-effectiveness, any ancillary health and environmental impacts, and energy requirements; or [t]he most 
effective emission control limitation for the type of equipment comprising such a source that is contained in an 
approved implementation plan of any state, unless the applicant demonstrates to the satisfaction of the APCO 
that such limitation is not achievable. Under no circumstances shall BACT be less stringent than any emission 
control required by any applicable provision of federal, state or District laws, rules or regulations.”  Under 
BAAQMD’s rules, BACT is equivalent to the stringent LAER standard used in the federal non-attainment 
NSR Program. See BAAQMD Rule 2-2-202; 42 U.S.C. § 7503; 40 C.F.R. §§ 51.165(i), 51.161. 
29 Offsets are “banked emission reduction credits” that “are provided to compensate for cumulative increases in 
emissions.” BAAQMD Rule 2-2-221.   
30 BAAQMD Rule 2-2-210.  
31 BAAQMD Rule 2-2-302. 
32 BAAQMD Rule 2-2-303.  
33 See also Notice of Violation, at 7.  
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Schnitzer has not installed BACT for POCs and has not fully complied with offset 
requirements for POCs even though the shredder’s potential to emit POCs is well in excess of 
applicable triggers for these requirements.  Accordingly, Schnitzer has been violating BAAQMD 
Rules 2-2-301 and 2-2-302 since at least 2007.   

 
Today, the Facility continues to operate without complying with the substantive NSR 

requirements of BACT and offsets for at least POCs, requirements that are essential to ensuring 
that applicable NAAQS are met.  Reflecting the need to install BACT for organic emissions, 
Paragraph 4 of Condition # 27085 of Schnitzer’s permit to operate recognizes the need for “an 
organic abatement system.”  To date, Schnitzer has not installed the required system.  BACT for 
POCs would, at a minimum, include installing a fully enclosed “state-of-the-art” shredder, such as 
the METSO Lindemann ZZ design that is vented to a baghouse,34 installing regenerative thermal 
oxidizers (RTOs) and scrubbers, and installing a baghouse.  Emissions control technology 
including but not limited to an enclosure and baghouse must also be installed to address POC 
emissions from associated material stockpiles and conveyors.   
 

C. Violations of Permit Conditions   
 

1. Legal background 

Any term or condition contained in any permit issued under an applicable State 
Implementation Plan is an “emission standard or limitation” that is enforceable through a CAA 
citizen suit.35  Schnitzer’s current PTO was issued pursuant to BAAQMD regulations that have 
been approved by EPA and incorporated into the California SIP.36  

 
2. Schnitzer’s violations 

As explained above, Schnitzer’s current PTO applies to its mega-shredder, infeed 
conveyor, cement silo, auto body component screener, drum magnet line with enclosure, and 
related abatement equipment.  Condition # 27085 limits POC emissions from the shredder to less 
than 112 pounds/hour and 85.5 tons/year.  Condition # 27085 also requires that “[o]rganic 
emissions from  [shredder] stack shall not exceed 300 ppmv (dry basis) of total carbon.”37   

 
34 The METSO Lindemann ZZ series is described by METSO as “state-of-the-art” and illustrates that 
significantly more protective shredder designs employing full enclosure are available.  See 
https://www.metso.com/products/shredders/metal-shredders/lindemann-zz-shredders/.  
35 42 U.S.C. 7604(f)(4). 
36 BAAQMD Rule 2-1-302 (requiring permit to operate); see also EPA-Approved Bay Area Air District 
Regulations in the California SIP, https://www.epa.gov/sips-ca/epa-approved-bay-area-air-district-regulations-
california-sip; 40 C.F.R. § 52.220 (listing all provisions included in the California SIP). 
37 The 2021 PTO still does not include emission limits on numerous TACs emitted by the Facility.  
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As demonstrated in Table 1 appended below, based on Schnitzer’s source tests and public 

information about Schnitzer’s annual throughput, Schnitzer has violated and continues to violate 
these emission limits on POCs in its PTO.  Indeed, the table of source emissions attached to 
Schnitzer’s own, recently issued 2020-2021 PTO shows that Schnitzer is violating the permit’s 
POC emission limits.  The table in the PTO states that Schnitzer’s shredder emits an annual average 
of 904 lbs/day of POCs, which amounts to 164.98 tons/year, while the associated “infeed 
conveyor” that supplies the shredder with metal-containing feedstock emits another 48 lbs/day of 
POCs, which amounts to another 8.76 tons/years.  As noted, Paragraph 4 of Condition # 27085 
also confirms that Schnitzer must install “an organic abatement system.”38  Schnitzer has not 
installed the required organic abatement system.   

 
Accordingly, Schnitzer is not in compliance with numerous enforceable requirements of 

Condition # 27085 of the PTO related to POC emissions.   
 
D. Additional Violations of Related BAAQMD Rules   
 

1. Legal background 

BAAQMD Rule 8-2-301 states that a person shall not discharge into the atmosphere from 
any miscellaneous operation an emission containing more than 6.8 kg (15 lbs) per day and 
containing a concentration of more than 300 ppm total carbon on a dry basis.  BAAQMD Rule 8-
2-301 has been approved by EPA and is incorporated into the California SIP.39 
 

2. Schnitzer’s violations 

According to the results of source testing conducted at the Facility on October 29-31, 2018, 
and January 21-23, 2019, and as corroborated by the EPA’s NOV, the shredder emits more than 
6.8 kg per day at a concentration of more than 300 ppm total carbon.40  Accordingly, Schnitzer is 
not in compliance with BAAQMD Section 8-2-301.  
 
 
 

 
38 Paragraph 4 states that “quarterly monitoring shall continue until an organic abatement system is operating 
and continued compliance with Regulation 8-2-301 has been demonstrated.” (Emphasis added.) 
39 EPA-Approved Bay Area Air District Regulations in the California SIP, https://www.epa.gov/sips-ca/epa-
approved-bay-area-air-district-regulations-california-sip; see also 40 C.F.R. § 52.220 (listing all provisions 
included in the California SIP). 
40 Notice of Violation, at 7.  

Case 4:21-cv-05246-SBA   Document 1   Filed 07/07/21   Page 34 of 282



 

Notice of Intent 
February 5, 2021 
Page 11 

 
 

E. Operation of Unpermitted Sources in Violation of the CAA and BAAQMD 
Rules 

 
Schnitzer is also in ongoing violation of the CAA and BAAQMD’s rules, including but 

not limited to 40 C.F.R. §70.7(b) and BAAQMD Rules 2-1-301 and 2-2-302, because its 
stockpiles, conveyors, and torch cutting are unpermitted sources of air pollutants.  Schnitzer’s 
existing PTO does not cover these substantial sources of air pollutants.  In addition to being 
unpermitted, BACT and other requirements that flow from permitting have not been met with 
respect to these emissions.  Indeed, Schnitzer has not imposed any meaningful controls of 
emissions from these sources.  

 
1. Stockpiles 

BAAQMD policy requires permitting of storage piles.41  However, Schnitzer’s PTO does 
not mention Schnitzer’s large stockpiles.  No exemption to BAAQMD’s NSR or permitting 
requirements under Rule 2-1-302 applies to this source, which emits PM, POCs, TACs, and other 
pollutants as a result of wind erosion and materials handling, in addition to emissions from regular 
fires.  The table attached to Schnitzer’s 2020-2021 PTO demonstrates that POC and particulate 
emissions from handling of the stockpiles are significant, and appear to be well above the 10 
lbs/day BACT trigger.  The table states that the “infeed conveyor” that supplies the shredder with 
metal-containing feedstock alone emits 48 lbs/day of POCs and 11.3 lbs/day of particulates.  Based 
on these numbers, POC and particulate emissions from routine handling of Schnitzer’s large 
stockpiles of feedstock, aggregate, harvested metals, and shredder waste are significantly higher 

 
41 BAAQMD, Engineering Division Permit Handbook (Oct. 23, 2018), at 211.  The Handbook requires 
permitting of storage piles at crushed stone processing facilities because such storage piles emit particulates and 
metals.  The stockpiles are not merely fugitive emissions because they could reasonably be made to pass through 
a stack by enclosing them, as illustrated by controls discussed by similar operations that are discussed below.  
See 40 C.F.R. § 70.2 (“Fugitive emissions are those emissions which could not reasonably pass through a stack, 
chimney, vent, or other functionally-equivalent opening.”); EPA, Memorandum from John S. Seitz, 
Classification of Emissions from Landfills for NSR Applicability Purposes (Oct. 21, 1994), available at 
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-08/documents/emsnldfl.pdf (explaining that “[t]he existence of 
collection technology in use by other sources in a source category creates a presumption that collection is 
reasonable.  Furthermore, in certain circumstances, the collection of emissions from a specific pollutant emitting 
activity can create a presumption that collection is reasonable for a similar pollutant-emitting activity, even if 
that activity is located within a different source category.”); EPA, Memorandum from Thomas C. Curran to 
Judith M. Katz, Interpretation of the Definition of Fugitive Emissions in Parts 70 and 71 (Feb. 10, 1999) 
(interpreting the same definition of fugitive emissions in the context of Title V rather than NSR in order to find 
that emissions from certain printing industry and paint manufacturers could reasonably be collected and are 
therefore not fugitive), available at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-07/documents/fug-def.pdf. 
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than the 10 lbs/day BACT threshold.  Wind erosion of the stockpiles results in additional 
emissions.42   

Air pollution emissions from Schnitzer’s stockpiles raise heightened health concerns 
because the stockpiles consist of “aggregate” and “shredder waste” that exceed toxicity thresholds 
for hazardous waste under California law due to high concentrations of lead, copper, and zinc.43  
Schnitzer stores this hazardous material in large, multistory stockpiles outside and uncovered, 
where contaminants can blow offsite into surrounding communities and the Bay, and, as has 
occurred on numerous occasions, catch fire.  As California’s Department of Toxic Substances 
Control (DTSC) has explained, the offsite, airborne migration of these materials can “result in 
contamination of the metal shredding facilities and potentially the areas near the metal shredding 
facilities, and may result in both the public and other biological organisms coming into contact 
with or being exposed to these hazardous constituents, and potentially suffering negative health 
impacts and harm.”44  Indeed, multiple agencies have found that Schnitzer’s operations have 
caused a large amount of light fibrous material (LFM) and contaminated dust to be emitted and 
deposited across a large area of West Oakland and into the San Francisco Bay.45  Tests confirmed 

 
42 According to Schnitzer, emissions from wind erosion at a metal recycling facility are estimated based on 
emission factors for crushed stone processing because emission factors do not exist for the scrap metal 
recycling industry.  Trinity Consultants, Project Report, Proposed Changes to the Joint Products Plant, 
Schnitzer Steel Metal Recycling Facility (Apr. 2019), at 3-2.  However, Schnitzer’s large stockpiles of 
materials that exceed toxicity thresholds for hazardous waste emit additional pollutants and present more 
health risk.  Additionally, the large quantity of LFM found to have been dispersed offsite suggests that 
Schnitzer’s stockpiles result in a higher rate of emissions than stockpiles of crushed stone.     
43 Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC), Evaluation and Analysis of Metal Shredding Facilities and 
Metal Shredder Wastes (Jan. 2018) at 61-62, 67, 112 (“2018 DTSC Evaluation”), available at 
https://dtsc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/31/2017/01/Metal-Shredder-Analysis-DRAFT.pdf; DTSC Draft 
Report of Investigation on Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc. Oakland Facility (Aug. 6, 2015) at 17, 28-29, 
Attachment 7 (“2015 DTSC Report of Investigation”); DTSC, Public Workshop on Proposed Rulemaking, 
Conditional Exclusion for Chemically Treated Metal Shredder (June 26, 2018) at slide 16; DTSC, Treatment 
Levels for Auto Shredder Waste (June 1989) at Appendix C; DTSC, Proposed Concepts for Environmental 
Protection and Authorization of Hazardous Waste Operations at Metal Shredding Facilities (Mar. 2019) at 3.  
44 2018 DTSC Evaluation at 78 (emphasis added).  
45 Alameda County District Attorney’s Office, California Attorney General’s Office, & DTSC, Community 
Meeting Concerning Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc. (Nov. 20, 2014) (“Community Meeting Concerning 
Schnitzer Steel”); San Francisco Regional Water Quality Control Board, Inspection Report for Schnitzer Steel 
Products Co. (Mar. 29, 2012) at rows NS-7, NS-8, NS-11 (finding that “[a]irborne dust [is] also discharged into 
estuary waters, as evidence[d] by accumulation of dust on side railing and adjacent fence,” “[e]xcessive dust and 
sediment is discharged from area into estuary waters via wind and stormwater,” and “[o]nce airborne, the dust 
travels across the site and into off-site areas”); SF RWQCB, Cleanup and Abatement Order No. R2-2013-1001 
(Jan. 2, 2013); see also Terraphase Engineering, Report on Light Fibrous Material Removal for Schnitzer Steel 
(Mar. 17, 2015).  The deposition of Schnitzer’s contaminated dust, LFM, and other material into the Oakland 
Inner Harbor is particularly concerning because the Oakland Inner Harbor is already impaired by multiple 
pollutants frequently found in materials generated by metal shredding facilities, including mercury, copper, lead, 

Case 4:21-cv-05246-SBA   Document 1   Filed 07/07/21   Page 36 of 282



 

Notice of Intent 
February 5, 2021 
Page 13 

 
 

that LFM found at properties near Schnitzer was hazardous waste under California law due to 
concentrations of lead, zinc, copper, and other toxic metals.46   

 

 
“This photo depicts the stock pile of untreated shredder 
aggregate at the JPP.”47 

LFM that migrated from the Facility onto a 
neighboring property.48 

 
Due to these concerns, Schnitzer must obtain a permit for the stockpiles and comply with 

applicable permitting requirements, including NSR and BACT.  Application of BACT would, at a 
minimum, require Schnitzer to enclose the stockpiles and conduct all processing in fully enclosed 
buildings outfitted with adequate air pollution controls.  As the image obtained from DTSC below 
illustrates, other metal shredders have enclosed stockpiles indoors, which, combined with other 
control measures, would substantially reduce LFM and other emissions.49   

 
zinc, and PCBs.  See State Water Resources Control Board, Region 2 Section 303(d) List, Final California 2010 
Integrated Report (Clean Water Act Section 303(d) List/305(b) Report) – Statewide, available at 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/tmdl/2010state_ir_reports/00009.shtml#18094; UC 
Davis DELTA Group Study, Deposition of Coarse Toxic Particles in Wilmington, CA for DTSC: Summer 2008 
and Spring 2009 (May 6, 2011) at 40, available at http://delta.ucdavis.edu/Reports/ti%20report.pdf  (listing these 
pollutants for metal shredders).  DTSC’s study of the auto-shredder in Wilmington, California, found that the 
facility is “the major source of stationary source emissions on the island.”  The analysis identifies one of the 
pollution emissions sources from the site as “shredder product pile fugitive dust.”  Among the pollutants the 
DTSC study found in the Terminal Island facility’s particulate waste emissions were lead, copper, iron, zinc, 
cadmium, mercury, and arsenic.  Schnitzer conducts similar operations but at a much larger scale.    
46 Community Meeting Concerning Schnitzer Steel at 16. 
47 Photo by Paul Baranich, Senior Environmental Scientist, during March 17 and 18, 2015 Investigation of 
Schnitzer Steel Oakland Facility (photo and caption attached to 2015 DTSC Report of Investigation). 
48 Community Meeting Concerning Schnitzer Steel, at 47. 
49 DTSC, Metal Shredding Facilities Community Meeting Presentation (Jan. 11, 2019) at slide 20.   
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Other industries that stockpile materials also enclose their stockpiles and conveyors in 

order to control emissions.  For example, a proposed coal facility in West Oakland, whose 
operations would involve pollution-emitting stockpiles of even more material than Schnitzer, 
proposed to enclose its stockpiles of coal in order to control emissions.50  Similarly, the Draft 
Supplemental Environmental Impact Report (SEIR) for the Eagle Rock Aggregate at the Oakland 
Harbor proposes an alternative pursuant to which a large building “would enclose the 
approximately 14 acres occupied by the three [40-foot tall] stockpiles, conveyor system, and truck 
loading operations,” in order to control emission of air pollutants.51  Additionally, other air 
permitting agencies have required full enclosure of similar petcoke and manganese stockpiles.52  
If these larger stockpiles of construction aggregate can be enclosed to control emissions, 
Schnitzer’s smaller stockpiles of toxic metal shredder aggregate can too.  Indeed, Schnitzer 
recently enclosed its shredder and joint products plant to control emissions generated by this same 

 
50 See Erin Baldassari, Supporters of shipping coal through Oakland say it will bring jobs, East Bay Times 
(May 24, 2016), https://www.eastbaytimes.com/2016/05/23/supporters-of-shipping-coal-through-oakland-say-
it-will-bring-jobs/ (depicting proposed enclosure of stockpiles and conveyors). 
51 SEIR, available at https://www.portofoakland.com/files/PDF/ERA%20Draft%20SEIR_110420.pdf.  
52 See Department of Public Health of the City of Chicago, Large Recycling Facility Rules at Section 4.4.2, 
available at 
https://www.chicago.gov/content/dam/city/depts/cdph/InspectionsandPermitting/CDPH%20Rules%20for%20
Large%20Recycling%20Facilities_Issued%20June%205,%202020.pdf (petcoke and manganese stockpiles); 
South Coast Air Quality Management District Rule 1158 at Section (d)(2), available at 
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/rule-book/reg-xi/rule-1158.pdf (petcoke stockpiles). 

Case 4:21-cv-05246-SBA   Document 1   Filed 07/07/21   Page 38 of 282



 

Notice of Intent 
February 5, 2021 
Page 15 

 
 

material.  Given that other shredding facilities, similar businesses, and Schnitzer itself have 
successfully implemented this common-sense emissions control measure (enclosure), the CAA 
requires Schnitzer to implement this measure too.  
 

2. Torch cutting 

Public records show that Schnitzer’s torch cutting is another significant source of emissions 
that is not covered by the PTO and requires application of BACT, offsets, and other protections.  
Schnitzer uses torch cutting to break apart large metal pieces of heavy melting steel.53  Torch 
cutting vaporizes metal, resulting in airborne fine particulate matter (PM2.5) and metals, including 
nickel, cadmium, hexavalent chromium, copper, lead, and other TACs.54  As with the stockpiles, 
torch cutting at the Facility must be permitted and BACT must be imposed to reduce emissions 
and health risk.  Notably, in a study of five recycling facilities in Houston, Texas, researchers 
found that ambient air concentrations of metals generated at the facilities resulted in potential 
cancer risks ranging from 10-6 to 10-4 for nearby residents.55  Subsequent studies by the University 
of Texas confirmed that residential risks associated with three of the five recycling facilities were 
greater than 10-6.56  Specific measures to control torch cutting emissions include prohibiting onsite 
torch cutting in the West Oakland environmental justice community;57 a requirement to conduct 
torch cutting indoors onsite, except in exceptional, pre-defined, circumstances; a requirement that 
the structures in which torch cutting is conducted be fully enclosed, well-ventilated, and fitted with 
robust air pollution controls;58 requirements related to fire prevention and control; and reporting 

 
53 Schnitzer, Emissions Minimization Plan (Dec. 17, 2015), at 5. 
54 Raun, et al. Unanticipated Potential Cancer Risk Near Metal Recycling Facilities, Environmental Impact 
Assessment Review, Vol. 41, 2013, at 71-72; New York State Department of Health, Metal Recycling Industry 
Project (Jun. 2007), at 3, available at https://www.health.ny.gov/environmental/workplace/metal_recycling/
docs/metal_recycling_report.pdf. 
55 Raun, et al (2013), at 75. The studies attributed the risk caused by these facilities, which do not include 
shredders, to torch cutting.   
56 University of Texas, 2018 MAPPS Report, Fifth Ward/Northside Near CMC Recycling (Oct. 2018) at 5; 
University of Texas, 2018 MAPPS Report, Magnolia Park near Cronimet (Oct. 2018) at 5; University of Texas, 
2018 MAPPS Report, South Park near Allied Alloys (Oct. 2018) at 5. 
57 See Metal Air Pollution Partnership Study, 2018 MAPPS Report for South Park near Allied Alloys, at 7 
(discussing voluntary steps to reduce torch cutting from facility identified as posing an elevated cancer risk to 
the community, including adding additional processing equipment to reduce torch cutting and outsourcing 
majority of torch cutting while evaluating other technology to further reduce metal emissions), available at 
https://sph.uth.edu/research/centers/swcoeh/mapps/MAPPS_Layreport_AA_F103118.pdf. 
58 The Ohio EPA has issued a permit-to-install to Reserve FTL for a torch cutting area at one of its facilities, 
consisting of a three-walled enclosure equipped with baghouse.  See Ohio EPA, Final Permit to Install issued to 
Reserve FTL, LLC, DBA Reserve Iron Ohio, issued May 7, 2012, available at http://web.epa.state.oh.us/dapc
/permits_issued/589801.pdf. 
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and monitoring requirements, including continuous ambient monitoring of PM and HAPs in the 
vicinity of torch cutting activities 
 

*** 
 

As required by 40 C.F.R. § 54.3, the person providing this notice is: 
 
 
Athletics Investment Group LLC  
55 Harrison St. 
Oakland, California 94607 

Attorneys for Oakland Athletics 
William Sloan 
Tyler Welti 
Venable LLP 
101 California Street Suite 3800 
San Francisco, CA 94111 
415.343.4490 
WMSloan@Venable.com   
TGWelti@Venable.com   
 

 
If you have any questions regarding the allegations in this notice or believe any of the 

foregoing information may be in error, please contact the undersigned counsel at the contact 
information included below. We are willing to discuss a resolution of this matter within the 60-
day notice period, if you are prepared to remedy the violations discussed above.  

Sincerely, 
                                                       
 
 
     William M. Sloan 
     Venable LLP 
     101 California Street Suite 3800 

San Francisco, CA 94111 
WMSloan@Venable.com  
415.343.4490 

 
     Tyler Welti 
     Venable LLP 
     101 California Street Suite 3800 

San Francisco, CA 94111 
TGWelti@Venable.com  
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415.653.3750 
      
     Attorneys for Oakland Athletics 

 
 
Enclosures: 
 

Exhibit A, Finding and Notice of Violation to Schnitzer Steel Industries from U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency Region 9 
 
Exhibit B, Schnitzer’s 2020-2021 PTO 

 
CC:   

Jack P. Broadbent 
Chief Executive Officer/Air Pollution Control Officer 
Bay Area Air Quality Management District 
375 Beale Street, Suite 600 
San Francisco, CA 94105 
 
Acting Administrator Jane Nishida 
Office of the Administrator (Mail Code 1101A) 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
William Jefferson Clinton Building 
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Washington, D.C. 20460 
 
Acting Regional Administrator Deborah Jordan 
Office of the Regional Administrator 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
Pacific Southwest, Region 9 
75 Hawthorne Street 
San Francisco, CA 94105 
 
Governor Gavin Newsom  
1303 10th Street, Suite 1173 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
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Liane M. Randolph, Chair  
California Air Resources Board 
P.O. Box 2815 
Sacramento, CA 95812 
 
Richard Corey, Executive Officer 
California Air Resources Board  
P.O. Box 2815 
Sacramento, CA 95812-2815 
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TABLE 1: COMPARISON OF ESTIMATED PRECURSOR ORGANIC COMPOUND (POC) EMISSIONS  
FROM THE SHREDDER STACK WITH SCHNITZER’S PERMIT TO OPERATE(a) 

 

Pollutant 

Source Test Results(b) 
Schnitzer’s Permit to 
Operate Limitation(c) June 2017 October 2017 January 2018 October 2018 January 2019 

(lb/hr) (ton/yr) (ppmv) (lb/hr) (ton/yr) (ppmv) (lb/hr) (ton/yr) (ppmv) (lb/hr) (ton/yr) (ppmv) (lb/hr) (ton/yr) (ppmv) (lb/hr) (ton/yr) (ppmv) 

POC 56.5 83 164 125(d) 182 362 200 160 565 183 266 526 227 208 653 112 85.5 300 

Notes: 

(a) Based on a ferrous metal feed rate of 640,000 tons per year and shredder stack air flow rate of 140,000 actual cubic feet per minute.   

(b) POC emissions in tons per year are based on POC emission factors of 0.26, 0.57, 0.5, 0.65 and 1.2 lbs/ton estimated from results of source tests 
conducted in June 2017, October 2017, January 2018, October 2018, and January 2019, respectively. Available unredacted information indicates 
source tests were conducted at ferrous metal shredder feed rates of approximately 200 tons per hour. Actual hourly feed rates are likely to be higher.   

(c) BAAQMD Permit to Operate, Permit Expiration Date November 1, 2021. 

(d) Value shown in red boldface type indicates that parameter is greater than maximum permitted emission rate. 
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JAN 2 7 2020

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY
REGION 9

j • ~ 75 HAWTHORNE STREET
SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA 94105

“% PRO

ENFORCEMENT AND COMPLIANCE
ASSURANCE DIVISION

CERTIFIED 1~’IAIL 7019 0700 0001 7652 9923

RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

Mr. Scott Sloan
Vice President — Environmental
Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc.
23711 63rd Ave. SE
Woodinville, WA 98072

Re: Finding and Notice of Violation
Schmtzer Steel Industries, Inc.
Oakland, California

Dear Mr. Sloan:

Enclosed is a copy of the Finding and Notice of Violation (“NOV”) that the U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency Region 9 (“EPA”) is issuing to Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc. (“Schnitzer”),
for violations of the Clean Air Act (“CAA”). Specifically, EPA finds that Schnitzer has violated
and continues to violate Title V of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. §~ 7661a-7661f and federally-
enforceable requirements in the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (“BAAQMD”)
portion of the California State Implementation Plan (“SIP”) at its facility in Oakland, California.

Sections 1 13(a)(1), 113(b) and 113(d) of the CAA authorize EPA to issue an order requiring
compliance with the requirements of the CAA, issue an administrative penalty order, or
commence a civil action seeking an injunction and/or civil penalty. See 42 U.S.C. §~ 74 13(a),
74 13(b), 74 13(d). Further, Section 113(c) of the CAA provides for criminal penalties in certain
cases. See 42 U.S.C. § 7413(c).

Schnitzer may, upon request, confer with EPA. Schnitzer may request a conference with EPA
within ten (10) working days of the receipt of this NOV. The conference will afford Schnitzer an
opportunity to present information on the specific findings of violation, the nature of the
violations, and any efforts Schnitzer may have taken to comply and the steps Schnitzer will take
to prevent future violations. In addition, in order to make the conference more productive, we
encourage Schnitzer to submit to EPA information responsive to the NOV prior to the
conference date.
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Please plan for your facility’s technical and management personnel to attend the conference to
discuss compliance measures and commitments. You may have an attorney represent you at this
conference.

If you have any questions pertaining to this NOV. please contact Scott Connolly of the
Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division at (415) 947-4141 or connolly.scott@epa.gov,
or have your attorney contact Denise Leong of the Office of Regional Counsel at (415) 972-3409
or leong.denise@epa.gov.

Thank you for your cooperation in this matter.

Sincerely,

Amy C. Miller
Director
Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 9

Enclosure

cc: Pamela Gray, Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc.
Jeffrey Gove, Bay Area Air Quality Management District
Todd Sax, California Air Resources Board
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UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY
REGION 9

IN THE MATTER OF: )
)

Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc. ) FINDING AND NOTICE
) OF VIOLATION

Oakland, California
) R9-CAA-20-1004

Proceedings Pursuant to )
Section 113(a)(1) of the )
Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. )
§7413(a)(1) )

FINDING AND NOTICE OF VIOLATION

This Finding and Notice of Violation (“NOV”) is issued pursuant to Section 113(a) of the Clean
Air Act 42 U.S.C. § 7401-7671q (“CAA”). Section 1 13(a)(1) requires the Administrator of the
United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) to notify any person in violation of a
state implementation plan (“SIP”) of the violations. This NOV is issued to Schnitzer Steel
Industries, Inc. (“Schnitzer”) for violations of the CAA at its facility located in Oakland,
California. Specifically, this NOV alleges violations of the Bay Area Air Quality Managment
District (“BAAQMD”) portion of the federally enforceable California SIP. This NOV also
notifies Schnitzer of violations of the Title V of the CAA. The authority to issue NOVs has been
delegated to the Regional Administrator of EPA, Region 9, and re-delegated to the Director of
the Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division for EPA, Region 9.

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND

Clean Air Act Title V Operating Permit Program Requirements

1. Section 502(a) of the Act provides that after the effective date of any permit program
approved or promulgated pursuant to the Title V of the Act, it is unlawful for any person
to operate a Title V affected source, except in compliance with a permit issued by a
permitting authority under Title V of the Act.

2. Under Section 502(b) of the Act, EPA promulgated 40 C.F.R. Part 70, “State Operating
Permit Programs,” which provides for the establishment of comprehensive state air
quality permitting programs consistent with the requirements of Title V of the Act. EPA’s
Part 70 regulations define the minimum elements required by the Act for state operating
permit programs, among other things. See 40 C.F.R. § 70.1.

3. Section 502(d) of the Act requires each state to develop, and submit to EPA for approval,
a permit program meeting the requirements of Title V of the Act, including the
requirements of the Part 70 State Operating Permit Programs regulations.

4. BAAQMD adopted Regulation 2, Rule 6 (“Major Facility Review”) to meet the
requirements of Title V of the Act, and 40 C.F.R. Part 70. EPA granted interim approval
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of Regulation 2, Rule 6 on June 23, 1995 and full approval on December 7, 2001. See
60 Fed. Reg. 32,606 and 66 Fed. Reg. 63,503.

5. The San Francisco Bay Area, including Alameda County, is designated as nonattainment
and classified as “marginal” for both the 2008 and 2015 8-hour ozone National Ambient
Air Quality Standards. See 40 C.F.R. § 81.305. Therefore, all sources in Alameda
County with a potential to emit (“PTE”) volatile organic compounds (“VOC5”) or oxides
of nitrogen above 100 tons per year are considered major stationary sources and required
to obtain major source operating permits. 40 C.F.R. § 70.2.

6. 40 C.F.R. § 70.1(b) provides that all sources subject to the Part 70 regulations shall have
a permit to operate that assures compliance by the source with all applicable
requirements, as defined in 40 C.F.R. § 70.2.

7. 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b) provides, in part, that no part 70 source may operate after the time
that it is required to submit a timely and complete application under an approved permit
program except in compliance with a permit issued under a Part 70 program.

Bay Area Air Quality Management District Compiled Rules and Regulations

8. Section 1 10(a)(1) of the CAA requires each state to adopt and submit to EPA for
approval a plan that provides for the implementation, maintenance, and enforcement of
each of the NAAQS. Such plans, once approved by EPA, are known as State
Implementation Plans, or SIPs.

9. EPA has approved Regulation 1 (“General Provisions”), Rule 200 as amended on
September 5, 1979, into the BAAQMD portion of the California SIP. See 46 Fed. Reg.
43,968 (Sep. 2, 1981).

a. BAAQMD Section 1-215 as approved into the California SIP defines “facility” as:
any property, real or personal, which may incorporate one or more plants all being
operated or maintained by a person as part of an identifiable business on contiguous
or adjacent property, and shall include, but not be limited to manufacturing plants,
refineries, power generating plants, ore processing plants, construction material
processing plants, automobile assembly plants, foundries and waste processing sites.

b. BAAQMD Section 1-22 1 as approved into the California SIP defines “person” as:
any natural person, corporation, government agency, public officer, association, joint
venture, partnership or any combination of such or such entities as are included in
Section 39047, California Health and Safety Code.

10. EPA has approved Regulation 2 (“Permits”), Rule 1, as amended on November 3, 1993,
into the BAAQMD portion of the California SIP. See 64 Fed. Reg. 3,850 (Jan. 26, 1999).

a. BAAQMD Section 2-1-2 14 as approved into the California SIP defines “federally
enforceable” as: all limitations and conditions that are enforceable by the
Administrator of the U. S. EPA, including but not limited to (i) requirements
developed pursuant to 40 CFR Parts 60 (NSPS), 61 (NESHAPS), 63 (HAP), 70 (State
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Operating Permit Programs) and 72 (Permits Regulation, Acid Rain); (ii)
requirements contained in the State Implementation Plan (SIP) that are applicable to
the District; (iii) District regulations approved pursuant to 40 CFR Part 51, Subpart I
(NSR); (iv) requirements in any operating permit issued under an EPA-approved
program that is a part of the SIP and expressly requires adherence to any permit
issued under such program, including requirements of any District permit condition
(excluding conditions that are not enforceable by the Administrator of the U.S. EPA);
and (v) requirements in federal consent decrees that are enforceable by the
Administrator of the U.S. EPA.

b. BAAQMD Section 2-1-2 17 defines “potential to emit” as: the maximum capacity of a
source or facility to emit a pollutant based on its physical and operational design. Any
physical or operational limitation on the capacity of the source or facility to emit a
pollutant, including air pollution control equipment and restrictions on hours of
operation or on the type or amount of material combusted, stored, or processed, shall
be treated as a part of its design only if the limitation, or the effect it would have on
emissions, is enforceable by the District or EPA (or both). A source or facility that
exceeds an enforceable limitation is considered to have a potential to emit that is
unconstrained by any such exceeded limit.

c. BAAQMD Section 2-1-302 requires a person to obtain written authorization in the
form of a permit to operate from the Air Pollution Control Officer (“APCO”) before
using or operating any article, machine, equipment or other contrivance, the use of
which may cause, reduce or control the emission of air contaminants. In addition to
securing a permit to operate, Section 2-1-302 requires any major facility to also
comply with Regulation 2, Rule 6 - Major Facility Review.

d. BAAQMD Section 2-6-2 12.1 defines “major facility,” for the purposes of
Regulation 2, Rule 6, as a facility that has the potential to emit 100 tons per year or
more of any regulated air pollutant, as defined in Section 2-6-222. For fugitive
emissions of regulated air pollutants, only the fugitive emissions from facility
categories listed in 40 C.F.R § 70.2 “Definitions - Major source (2)” shall be included
in determining whether the facility is a major facility. Once any facility is determined

• to be a major facility, all fugitive emissions from the facility shall be included in
calculating the facility’s emissions.

11. EPA has approved Regulation 8, Rule 2, “Organic Compounds — Miscellaneous
Operations,” as amended on June 15, 1994 into the BAAQMD portion of the California
SiP. See 60 Fed. Reg. 15,062 (Mar. 22, 1995).

a. BAAQMD Section 8-2-101 states that the purpose of this Rule is to reduce emissions
of precursor organic compounds from miscellaneous operations.

•b. BAAQMD Section 8-2-20 1 defines “miscellaneous operations” as any operation
other than those limited by the other rules of Regulation 8 and the Rules of
Regulation 10.

5
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c. BAAQMD Section 8-2-202 defines “total carbon” as organic compounds calculated
as total carbon determined by either the total carbon of an individual organic
compound equal to the ppm of that compound in an emission multiplied by the
number of carbon atoms present in the molecule or the total carbon in an emission of
the sum of the total carbon of all of the individual organic compounds present in the
effluent. 1,1,1, trichioroethane, methylene chloride, methane and chiorofluorocarbons
shall not be included in the calculation of total carbon.

d. BAAQMD Section 8-2-30 1 states that a person shall not discharge into the
atmosphere from any miscellaneous operation an emission containing more than 6.8
kg (15 ibs) per day and containing a concentration of more than 300 ppm total carbon
on a dry basis.

e. BAAQMD Section 8-2-60 1 states that compliance with the standards in 8-2-30 1 shall
be measured by any of the following methods: 1) BAAQMD Manual of Procedures,
Volume IV, ST-7, 2) EPA Method 25 or 25A, and that a source shall be considered in
violation if the VOC emissions measured by any of the referenced test methods
exceed the standards of this rule.

FINDINGS OF FACT

12. Schnitzer owns and operates a metal shredding and recycling facility located at 1101
Embarcadero West, Oakland, California (“Facility”) in Alameda County.

13. Schnitzer is a “person’ as defined by BAAQMD Section 1-22 1.

14. Alameda County is part of the San Francisco Bay Area nonattainment area which is
classified as “marginal” nonattainment under both the 2008 and 2015 8-Hour Ozone
Standard.

15. Schnitzer stores, processes, and recycles ferrous and non-ferrous scrap metals from end-
of-life vehicles and post-consumer sheet metal at the Facility.

16. Scrap metal is shredded in a metal shredder, which includes an electric hanimermill
shredder at the Facility.

17. On or about November 1, 2006, Schnitzer started operation of a new hammermiul
shredder.

18. On or about April 26, 2007, BAAQMD issued the Facility a permit to operate (not a
Major Facility Review permit), which included a throughput limit of 431,471 tons per
calendar year applicable to the hammermill shredder.

19. The Facility’s current throughput limit for the hammermill shredder is 720,000 tons per
calendar year. On or about September 14, 2Q07, Schnitzer submitted an application to
BAAQMD requesting to increase the throughput limit from 431,471 to 720,000 tons per
calendar year.
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20. On July 23, 2019, EPA Region 9 conducted an unannounced on-site inspection of the
Facility. Inspectors from the California Air Resources Board (“CARB”) and BAAQMD
were also present at the inspection. Schnitzer granted access to the Facility during the
inspection and Schnitzer personnel were present to answer questions.

21. During the on-site inspection, EPA inspectors observed various process areas at the
Facility, including the hammermill shredder.

22. At the conclusion of the inspection, EPA requested documents that Schnitzer
subsequently provided.

23. On or about June 28-29, 2017, October 29-31, 2018, and January 21-23, 2019, Schnitzer
conducted emissions testing of the hammermill shredder at the Facility, including testing
for precursor organic compounds (“POC” or “VOC”), chromium, particulate matter and
metals emissions.

24. Based on the results of the testing conducted on October 29-31, 2018 and January 21-23,
2019, the hammermill shredder at the Facility:

a. has the potential to emit more than 100 tons per year of VOCs; and

b. discharges into the atmosphere emissions of more than 6.8 kg per day at a
concentration of more than 300 ppm total carbon; and

c. emits at least 217 pounds per hour of POCs.

25. Since at least April 26, 2007, when Schnitzer was issued a permit to operate that included
the hammermill shredder throughput limit of 431,471 tons per year, Schnitzer has had the
potential to emit more than 100 tons per calendar year of VOCs.

26. The Facility is a “major source” as defined at 42 U.S.C. § 766 1(2) and a “major facility”
as defined in BAAQMD Section 2-6-2 12.

27. By operating as a major source, the Facility is subject to the requirements of the CAA
Title V, 42 U.S.C. §~ 7661a-7661f.

28. By operating the Facility as a major facility, Schnitzer is subject to the Major Facility
Review requirements of BAAQMD Section 2-1-302, CAA section 502(b) and 40 C.F.R.
§ 70.7(b).

29. On October 15, 2018, Schnitzer submitted an application for Major Facility Review to
BAAQMD.

30. On or about July 3, 2019, Schnitzer submitted applications for an Authority to Construct
permit and a Synthetic Minor Operating permit to BAAQMD that propose to install and
operate two regenerative thermal oxidizers control devices and two packed bed scrubbers
at the Facility to reduce POC emissions and to limit facility-wide emissions to below the
threshold for a maj or facility.
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31. To date, Schnitzer has not received a Title V permit from BAAQMD.

32. To date, Schnitzer does not have any emissions control equipment on its shredder or a
federally enforceable limit that reduces VOC emissions to below 100 tons per year.

FINDING OF VIOLATION

33. Schnitzer is operating the Facility as a major stationary source with the potential to emit
at least 100 tons per year of VOCs but failed to submit a timely application for a Title V
permit, in violation of CAA section 502 and 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b).

34. Schnitzer is operating the Facility as a major facility without undergoing Major Facility
Review, in violation of the BAAQMD Section 2-1-302.

35. Schnitzer has failed to prevent discharges into the atmosphere containing more than 6.8
kg per day at a concentration of more than 300 ppm total carbon at the hammermill
shredder at the Facility, in violation of BAAQMD Section 8-2-301.

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

36. Notice is given to Schnitzer that the Administrator of the EPA, by authority duly
delegated to the undersigned, finds that Schnitzer violated CAA section 502, 40 C.F.R.
§ 70.7(b), and BAAQMD Section 2-1-302, CAA section 110, and BAAQMD Section 8-
2-301 in the California SIP, as set forth in the Findings of Violation.

ENFORCEMENT

37. Section 1 13(a)(1) of the Act and 40 C.F.R. Part 19 provides that, at any time following
thirty (30) days after the EPA issues a notice of violation of a requirement or prohibition
of an applicable implementation plan or permit, the EPA may:

- issue an order requiring compliance with the requirement or prohibition;
- issue an administrative penalty order pursuant to section 113(d) of the Act for

civil administrative penalties; or
- bring a civil action pursuant to section 113(b) of the Act for injunctive relief

and/or civil penalties.

The amount of civil penalties that may be recovered for violations such as those
discussed above of the CAA and its implementing regulations is set by statute. See
40 C.F.R. Part 19.

Furthermore, if a person knowingly violates any requirements of an applicable
implementation plan more than thirty (30) days after the date of issuance of this NOV,
section 113(c) of the Act provides for criminal penalties or imprisonment, or both.
42 U.S.C. § 7413(c). Under section 306(a) of the Act (42 U.S.C. § 7606(a)), the
regulations promulgated thereunder (2 C.F.R. Part 1532), and Executive Order 11738,
persons convicted of an offense under section 113(c) of the Act are disqualified from
receiving federal contracts, grants, and loans.
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PENALTY ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

38. Section 11 3(e)( 1) of the Act states that, in determining the amount of any penalty to be
assessed, the Administrator shall take into consideration (in addition to such other factors
as justice may require) the size of the violator, the economic impact of the penalty on the
violator, the violator’s full compliance history and good faith efforts to comply, the
duration of the violation as established by any credible evidence (including evidence
other than the applicable test method), payment by the violator of penalties previously
assessed for the same violation, the economic benefit of noncompliance, and the
seriousness of the violation.

39. Section 11 3(e)(2) of the Act allows the Administrator to assess a penalty for each day of
violation. For the purposes of determining the number of days of violation, where EPA
makes a prima facie showing that the conduct or events giving rise to this violation are
likely to have continued or recurred past the date of this NOV, the days of violation shall
be presumed to include the date of this NOV and each and every day thereafter until the
violator establishes that continuous compliance has been achieved, except to the extent
that the violator can prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there were intervening
days during which no violation occurred or that the violation was not continuing in
nature.

OPPORTUNITY FOR CONFERENCE

40. Schnitzer may, upon request, confer with the EPA. The conference will enable Schnitzer
to present evidence bearing on the finding of violation, on the nature of the violations,
and on any effort, it may have taken or proposes to take to achieve compliance. Schnitzer
has the right to be represented by counsel. A request for a conference with the EPA must
be made within ten (10) working days of receipt of this NOV, and the request for a
conference or other inquiries concerning the NOV should be made in writing to:

Denise Leong
Assistant Regional Counsel
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Region 9
75 Hawthorne Street
San Francisco, CA 94105
(415) 972-3409
leong.denise@epa.gov
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ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT OF VIOLATIONS

41. These violations can cause and have caused excess emissions of VOCs.

42. VOCs are photochemical oxidants associated with a number of detrimental health effects,
which include birth defects and cancer, as well as environmental and ecological effects.
In the presence of sunlight, VOCs are influenced by a variety of meteorological
conditions and have the ability to create photochemical smog. VOCs react with oxygen in
the air to produce ground-level ozone.

43. Breathing ozone contributes to a variety of health problems including chest pain,
coughing, throat irritation, and congestion. It can worsen bronchitis, emphysema, and
asthma. Ground-level ozone also can reduce lung function and inflame lung tissue.
Repeated exposure may permanently scar lung tissue.

~_2~__Z~i~ ______________________

Date Amy . Miller
Director
Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division
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This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

ORIGINAL SENT TO: 
Pamela Gray, Regional Environmental Man 
Schnitzer Steel Products Company 
PO Box 747 
Oakland, CA 94604 

Schnitzer Steel Products Company 
1101 Embarcadero-West 
Oakland, CA 94607 

Location: Adeline St, Foot of 
Oakland, CA 94607 

S# DESCRIPTION [Schedule] PAID 
----- ------------------------------------------------------------ 

6 MTGL/SEC> Crushing/shredding, Steel 
Shredder w/ water injection, electric, 225 tph (avg.) 

Abated by: A6 Water Spray System 
All Venturi Scrubber 
A12 Venturi Scrubber 

Emissions at: Pl5 Stack 

528 
[F] 

7 MTGL/SEC> Conveying, Steel 528 
Infeed Conveyor (electric) [F] 

Abated by: A6 Water Spray System 
All Venturi Scrubber 
Al2 Venturi Scrubber 

Emissions at: Pl5 Stack 

10 MINERL> Storage, contained, Cement 480 
Cement Silo [F] 

Abated by: AlO Baghouse, Pulse Jet 
Emissions at: PlO Stack 

11 MTGL/SEC> Screening, Auto body components, 120 tons/hr max 
Joint Products Plants w/ enclosure (2 Trommels, 3 Screens, Classifiers, Conveyors, and ot [exempt] 

Abated by: A13 Water Spray System 
A14 Baghouse, Pulse Jet 

Emissions at: Pl4 Stack 

0 

375 Beale Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, CA 94105 - (415) 771.6000-WWW.BAAQMD.GOV 

Case 4:21-cv-05246-SBA   Document 1   Filed 07/07/21   Page 56 of 282



12/09/20 A0208 Page 2 

~ BAY AREA AIR Q1IALITY PERMIT 
~ MANAGEMENT DISTRICT TO OPERATE 

This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 

Plant# 208 

S# DESCRIPTION [Schedule] PAID 

12 MTGL/SEC> Screening, Auto body components, 5 tons/hr max 
Drum Magnet Line W/ enclosure [exempt] 

0 

13 MTGL/SEC> Screening, Solid waste - other/not spec 
JPP from Wet Seperation Unit downstream 

0 
[exempt] 

3 Permitted Sources, 3 Exempt Sources 

*** See attached Permit Conditions*** 
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12/09/20 A0208 Page 3 

~BAY AREA AIR Q11ALITY PERMIT 
~ MANAGEMENT DISTRICT TO OPERATE 

This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

Source# Subject to Condition Numbers 

6 
7 

10 
11 
12 

27085 
27085 
24125 
27085 
27085 

The operating parameters described above are based on information supplied by permit holder and may differ from the limits 
set forth in the attached conditions of the Permit to Operate. The limits of operation in the permit conditions are not to 
be exceeded. Exceeding these limits is considered a violation of District regulations subject to enforcement action. 
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12/09/20 A0208 Page 4 

~ BAY AREA AIR ~ALITY PERMIT 
~ MANAGEMENT DISTRICT TO OPERATE 

This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

COND# 24125 applies to S# 10 

S-10, Cement Silo 

1. The Permit Holder shall ensure the visible particulate 
emissions from the silo do not exceed Ringelmann Number 
0.5 (or equivalent opacity) or result in fall out on 
adjacent property in such quantities as to cause 
annoyance to any other person. 
(basis: Regulation 6-1-301, 1-301) 

2. The Permit Holder shall not exceed a throughput of 
21,900 tons of cement in any consecutive 12-month 
period. (basis: cumulative increase) 

3. The Permit Holder shall abate emissions from the silo by 
a filter, A-10, at all times the silo is in operation. 
The filter shall be functioning properly within the 
manufacturer's specified pressure drop range. 
(basis: cumulative increase) 

4. In order to demonstrate compliance with part 2 of the 
condition, the Permit Holder shall keep daily, monthly, 
and consecutive 12-month records of the material 
throughput in a District approved logbook. The records 
shall be kept on site for at least 24 months from the 
date of data entry and be made available to the District 
staff for inspection. 
(basis: cumulative increase, recordkeeping) 

COND# 27085 applies to S#'s 6, 7, 11, 12, Al2, All 

Condition# 27085 

S-6 Shredder and S-7 Infeed Conveyor; abated by A-6 
Water Sprays, A-11 Venturi Scrubber, and A-12 
Venturi Scrubber (Revision 1: A #14194, 6/16/06; 
Revision 2: A #16721, 4/9/09; Revision 3: A #27762, 
11/10/16; Revision 4: A #27762, 11/20/2020) 

1. The owner/operator shall not exceed the scrap-in 
throughput limit of 720,000 tons in any calendar year at 
this facility. (Basis: Regulations 2-1-301 - baseline 
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12/09/20 A0208 Page 5 

~ BAY AREA AIR QdALITY PERMIT 
~ MANAGEMENT DISTRICT TO OPERATE 

This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

2005 production level of 431,471 tons/year - and 2-5-302 
and Cumulative Increase for the incremental throughput) 

2. The owner/operator shall enclose the shredder, S-6, 
and shall vent the shredder emissions to the Venturi 
Scrubbers, A-11 and A-12, during all times that S-6 is 
operating. The owner/operator shall minimize fugitive 
emissions from the shredder enclosure during shredder 
operation by (a) designing the enclosure such that the 
total surface area of all openings in the enclosure does 
not exceed 5% of the total surface area of the enclosure 
walls, floor, and ceiling; (b) using curtain walls or 
strip curtains on the inlet feed conveyor opening; and c 
ensuring that the ventilation fan is operating within its 
design range. The owner/operator shall demonstrate that 
the ventilation fan is operating within its design range 
by maintaining the amperage greater than 480 amperes 
during shredder operation. The owner/operator shall 
operate each Venturi Scrubber in accordance with 
manufacture specifications. The owner/operator shall 
demonstrate this by maintaining a minimum water flow rate 
of 300 gallons per minute (gpm) to each venturi scrubber 
and an effective pressure differential operating range 
15-22 inches of H20 across each venturi scrubber. 
(Basis: TBACT) 

3. Total emissions from the S-6 Auto Shredder shall not 
exceed any of the emission limits listed below: 
a. Maximum Permitted Emission Rates: 

PMlO 
(total filterable+ condensable) 
POC 
(calculated as methane) 

P-15 Stack 
Pounds/Hour 

5.91 

112.0 

P-15 Stack 
Tons/Year 

6.15 

85.50 

b. Total particulate emissions from the P-15 stack 
shall not exceed a grain loading of 0.0046 
grains/dscf as determined in accordance with 
Regulation 6-1-602.1. 

c. Organic emissions from the P-15 stack shall not 
exceed 300 ppmv (dry basis) of total carbon as 
determined in accordance with Regulation 
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This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

8-2-601. 
d. The owner/operator shall demonstrate 

compliance with the Part 3a stack emission 
limits as described in Part 4. 

(Basis: Cumulative Increase, BACT, TBACT, and 
Regulations 2-5-302 and 8-2-301) 

4. Source Testing Requirements for Part 3: 
a. Within 180 days of issuance of this Permit to 

Operate, the owner/operator shall initiate quarterly 
monitoring for the total carbon concentration in 
stack P-15, using authorized procedures and methods, 
to demonstrate compliance with Parts 3a, 3c and 
Regulation 8-2-301, and to assess excess POC 
emissions in the event of non-compliance with Part 
3a, 3c or Regulation 8-2-301. This quarterly 
monitoring shall continue until an organic abatement 
system is operating and continued compliance with 
Regulation 8-2-301 has been demonstrated. 

b. Within 90 days of issuance of this Permit to Operate 
and annually thereafter, unless noted otherwise, the 
owner/operator shall conduct a District approved 
source test at stack P-15, while the S-6 Auto 
Shredder is operating at or near the maximum 
operating rate, to demonstrate compliance with 
the P-15 stack emission limits in Parts 3a-c. The 
owner/operator shall record the shredder processing 
rate, the water application rates for the infeed 
conveyor and the shredder, the water flow rates and 
the pressure differential operating ranges at each 
venturi scrubber, and the ventilation fan amperage 
during the source test. The source test shall 
determine the hourly emission rate and the average 
emission factor (pounds of pollutant per ton of 
material processed by the shredder) for the 
following compounds: 
- total carbon (calculated as methane and as defined 

in Regulation 8-2-202) shall be determined by Air 
District approved methods, such as EPA Methods 25A 
and 18, 

- total POC (calculated as methane), where 
total POC = total carbon (excluding methane only) 
- total NPOC. Total NPOC (calculated as methane) 
shall be determined by Air District approved 
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12/09/20 A0208 Page 7 

~BAY AREA AIR QllALITY PERMIT 
~ MANAGEMENT DISTRICT TO OPERATE 

This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

methods, such as EPA Method 18 and EPA Method 
T0-15 or other similar GC/MS methods. Total NPOC 
is the sum of all NPOCs (other than methane) 
identified in Regulation 2-1-207, expressed as 
methane. 

- total particulate emissions shall be determined 
using EPA Method 5/202. All measured total 
particulate emissions shall be assumed to be PMlO 
for comparison to the limits in Part 3a. 

- Full speciation of organic TACs shall be 
determined by Air District approved methods, such 
as EPA Method T0-15 or other similar GC/MS 
methods. 

- PCBs shall be determined by Air District approved 
methods, such as CARE Method 428. (This test 
shall be conducted within 90 days of Permit to 
Operate issuance and once every four years 
thereafter.) 

- PAHs and naphthalene shall be determined by Air 
District approved methods, such as CARE Method 
429. (This test shall be conducted within 90 days 
of Permit to Operate issuance and once every four 
years thereafter.) 

- Full set of metal TACs (including arsenic (As), 
beryllium (Be), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr) which 
includes total chromium and hexavalent chromium 
(Cr VI), copper (Cu), lead (Pb), manganese (Mn), 
mercury (Hg), nickel (Ni), selenium (Se), and zinc 
(Zn)), shall be determined using Air District 
approved procedures for each compound, including 
CARE Method 425 for hexavalent chromium. (This 
test shall be conducted within 90 days of Permit 
to Operate issuance and once every four years 
thereafter.) 

- Annual emissions for Stack P-15 shall be 
calculated based on the most recent 12-month 
shredder feedstock throughput rate and the 
pounds/ton emission factors determined by the most 
recent source test for total POC and total 
particulate emissions. Annual stack emission rates 
shall be compared to the Part 3a limits. The 
annual source test shall also determine the outlet 
grain loading and the concentration of total 
carbon in the P-15 stack to demonstrate compliance 
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12/09/20 A0208 Page 8 

~ BAY AREA AIR QvALITY PERMIT 
~ MANAGEMENT DISTRICT TO OPERATE 

This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

with Parts 3b and 3c using Air District approved 
methods. 

c. The owner/operator shall submit a source test 
protocol and notification of the scheduled source 
test date to the Air District's Source Test Section 
Manager and to the Permit Engineer at least 30 days 
prior to the scheduled test date. 

d. The owner/operator shall notify the Source Test 
Section Manager of any changes to the scheduled test 
date as soon as possible. 

e. The owner/operator shall submit a copy of the source 
test report to the Source Test Section Manager and 
the Permit Engineer within 60 days of the test date. 

(Basis: Cumulative Increase, TBACT and Regulations 
2-5-302 and 8-2-301) 

5. The owner/operator shall apply water sprays (A-6) at the 
shredder, S-6, and infeed conveyor, S-7, at sufficient 
rates to ensure that non-metallic material exiting the 
sources is moist to the touch at all times of operation. 
(Basis: Cumulative Increase, TBACT; and Regulation 
2-5-302) 

6. The owner/operator shall operate the Recycling Center in 
such a manner that particulate emissions into the 
atmosphere from any operation/equipment for a period or 
periods aggregating more than three minutes in any hour 
shall not cause a visible emission which is as dark or 
darker than No. 0.5 on the Ringelmann Chart, or of such 
opacity as to obscure an observer's view to an equivalent 
or greater degree or result in fallout on adjacent 
property in such quantities as to cause public nuisance 
per District Regulation 1-301. 
(Basis: Regulations 1-301 and 6-1-301) 

7. The owner/operator shall use water spray to minimize 
fugitive dust emissions from material/scrap handling and 
storage to comply with Part 6. The owner/operator shall 
operate the facility at all times in accordance with its 
approved Emissions Minimization Plan (EMP). 
(Basis: Regulations 1-301, 6-1-301, and 6-4-301) 

8. The owner/operator shall not exceed a total of 26 ship 
calls and 63,875 truck calls per calendar year to haul 

375 Beale Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, CA 94105 - (415) 771.6000-WWW.BAAQMD.GOV 
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This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

in/out scrap/materials at the facility. (Basis: health 
risk assessment for CEQA review) 

9. In order to demonstrate compliance with Part 1 and 8, 
the owner/operator shall keep records of monthly and 
yearly throughput of shredder feedstock materials, ship 
calls and truck calls in a District approved log. 
Shredder feedstock shall be totaled for each consecutive 
rolling 12-month period. The log shall be maintained for 
a period of at least 5 years from the date of data entry 
and shall be made available to the District staff for 
inspection upon request. (Basis: Regulations 2-1-301 and 
2-5-302, Cumulative Increase, CEQA) 

-------------------------- END OF CONDITIONS-------------------------- 

375 Beale Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, CA 94105 - (415) 771 .6000 -WWW.BAAQMD.GOV 
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Bay Area Air Quality 
Management District 

S# 

6 
7 
10 
11 
12 
13 

** SOURCE EMISSIONS** 

Source Description 

Shredder w/ water injection, electric, 225 
Infeed Conveyor (electric) 
Cement Silo 
Joint Products Plants w/ enclosure (2 Trom 
Drum Magnet Line W/ enclosure 
JPP from Wet Seperation Unit downstream 

T O T A L S 

PLANT# 208 
Dec 2, 2020 

Annual Average lbs/day 
PART ORG NOx S02 CO 

.1 
11. 3 

.5 

.6 

12.5 

904 
48 

952 

** PLANT TOTALS FOR EACH EMITTED TOXIC POLLUTANT** 

Pollutant Name 

Benzene 
Ethylene dichloride 
Hexane 
Isopropyl alcohol 
Methyl ethyl ketone (MEK) 
Methyl alcohol 
Perchloroethylene 
Styrene 
Toluene 
Xylene 
Ethylbenzene 
Acrylonitrile 
Vinylidene chloride 
Methylene chloride 
1,3-butadiene 
Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) 
Propylene 
1,1,1-Trichloroethane 
Copper (all) pollutant 
Lead (all) pollutant 
Manganese 
Nickel pollutant 

Page 10 

Emissions lbs/day 

3.69 
.09 

11.50 
1.13 
2.46 
2.62 

.62 
1. 32 

31.97 
42.11 
8.54 

.05 

.13 
2.64 

.11 

.08 
3.20 

. 32 

.06 

.02 

.03 

.01 
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EXHIBIT 2 
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EXHIBIT 3 
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This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

ORIGINAL SENT TO: 
Pamela Gray, Regional Environmental Man 
Schnitzer Steel Products Company 
PO Box 747 
Oakland, CA 94604 

Schnitzer Steel Products Company 
1101 Embarcadero-West 
Oakland, CA 94607 

Location: Adeline St, Foot of 
Oakland, CA 94607 

S# DESCRIPTION [Schedule] PAID 
----- ------------------------------------------------------------ 

6 MTGL/SEC> Crushing/shredding, Steel 
Shredder w/ water injection, electric, 225 tph (avg.) 

Abated by: A6 Water Spray System 
All Venturi Scrubber 
A12 Venturi Scrubber 

Emissions at: Pl5 Stack 

528 
[F] 

7 MTGL/SEC> Conveying, Steel 528 
Infeed Conveyor (electric) [F] 

Abated by: A6 Water Spray System 
All Venturi Scrubber 
Al2 Venturi Scrubber 

Emissions at: Pl5 Stack 

10 MINERL> Storage, contained, Cement 480 
Cement Silo [F] 

Abated by: AlO Baghouse, Pulse Jet 
Emissions at: PlO Stack 

11 MTGL/SEC> Screening, Auto body components, 120 tons/hr max 
Joint Products Plants w/ enclosure (2 Trommels, 3 Screens, Classifiers, Conveyors, and ot [exempt] 

Abated by: A13 Water Spray System 
A14 Baghouse, Pulse Jet 

Emissions at: Pl4 Stack 

0 

375 Beale Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, CA 94105 - (415) 771.6000-WWW.BAAQMD.GOV 

Case 4:21-cv-05246-SBA   Document 1   Filed 07/07/21   Page 273 of 282



12/09/20 A0208 Page 2 

~ BAY AREA AIR Q1IALITY PERMIT 
~ MANAGEMENT DISTRICT TO OPERATE 

This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 

Plant# 208 

S# DESCRIPTION [Schedule] PAID 

12 MTGL/SEC> Screening, Auto body components, 5 tons/hr max 
Drum Magnet Line W/ enclosure [exempt] 

0 

13 MTGL/SEC> Screening, Solid waste - other/not spec 
JPP from Wet Seperation Unit downstream 

0 
[exempt] 

3 Permitted Sources, 3 Exempt Sources 

*** See attached Permit Conditions*** 
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12/09/20 A0208 Page 3 

~BAY AREA AIR Q11ALITY PERMIT 
~ MANAGEMENT DISTRICT TO OPERATE 

This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

Source# Subject to Condition Numbers 

6 
7 

10 
11 
12 

27085 
27085 
24125 
27085 
27085 

The operating parameters described above are based on information supplied by permit holder and may differ from the limits 
set forth in the attached conditions of the Permit to Operate. The limits of operation in the permit conditions are not to 
be exceeded. Exceeding these limits is considered a violation of District regulations subject to enforcement action. 
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12/09/20 A0208 Page 4 

~ BAY AREA AIR ~ALITY PERMIT 
~ MANAGEMENT DISTRICT TO OPERATE 

This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

COND# 24125 applies to S# 10 

S-10, Cement Silo 

1. The Permit Holder shall ensure the visible particulate 
emissions from the silo do not exceed Ringelmann Number 
0.5 (or equivalent opacity) or result in fall out on 
adjacent property in such quantities as to cause 
annoyance to any other person. 
(basis: Regulation 6-1-301, 1-301) 

2. The Permit Holder shall not exceed a throughput of 
21,900 tons of cement in any consecutive 12-month 
period. (basis: cumulative increase) 

3. The Permit Holder shall abate emissions from the silo by 
a filter, A-10, at all times the silo is in operation. 
The filter shall be functioning properly within the 
manufacturer's specified pressure drop range. 
(basis: cumulative increase) 

4. In order to demonstrate compliance with part 2 of the 
condition, the Permit Holder shall keep daily, monthly, 
and consecutive 12-month records of the material 
throughput in a District approved logbook. The records 
shall be kept on site for at least 24 months from the 
date of data entry and be made available to the District 
staff for inspection. 
(basis: cumulative increase, recordkeeping) 

COND# 27085 applies to S#'s 6, 7, 11, 12, Al2, All 

Condition# 27085 

S-6 Shredder and S-7 Infeed Conveyor; abated by A-6 
Water Sprays, A-11 Venturi Scrubber, and A-12 
Venturi Scrubber (Revision 1: A #14194, 6/16/06; 
Revision 2: A #16721, 4/9/09; Revision 3: A #27762, 
11/10/16; Revision 4: A #27762, 11/20/2020) 

1. The owner/operator shall not exceed the scrap-in 
throughput limit of 720,000 tons in any calendar year at 
this facility. (Basis: Regulations 2-1-301 - baseline 
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12/09/20 A0208 Page 5 

~ BAY AREA AIR QdALITY PERMIT 
~ MANAGEMENT DISTRICT TO OPERATE 

This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

2005 production level of 431,471 tons/year - and 2-5-302 
and Cumulative Increase for the incremental throughput) 

2. The owner/operator shall enclose the shredder, S-6, 
and shall vent the shredder emissions to the Venturi 
Scrubbers, A-11 and A-12, during all times that S-6 is 
operating. The owner/operator shall minimize fugitive 
emissions from the shredder enclosure during shredder 
operation by (a) designing the enclosure such that the 
total surface area of all openings in the enclosure does 
not exceed 5% of the total surface area of the enclosure 
walls, floor, and ceiling; (b) using curtain walls or 
strip curtains on the inlet feed conveyor opening; and c 
ensuring that the ventilation fan is operating within its 
design range. The owner/operator shall demonstrate that 
the ventilation fan is operating within its design range 
by maintaining the amperage greater than 480 amperes 
during shredder operation. The owner/operator shall 
operate each Venturi Scrubber in accordance with 
manufacture specifications. The owner/operator shall 
demonstrate this by maintaining a minimum water flow rate 
of 300 gallons per minute (gpm) to each venturi scrubber 
and an effective pressure differential operating range 
15-22 inches of H20 across each venturi scrubber. 
(Basis: TBACT) 

3. Total emissions from the S-6 Auto Shredder shall not 
exceed any of the emission limits listed below: 
a. Maximum Permitted Emission Rates: 

PMlO 
(total filterable+ condensable) 
POC 
(calculated as methane) 

P-15 Stack 
Pounds/Hour 

5.91 

112.0 

P-15 Stack 
Tons/Year 

6.15 

85.50 

b. Total particulate emissions from the P-15 stack 
shall not exceed a grain loading of 0.0046 
grains/dscf as determined in accordance with 
Regulation 6-1-602.1. 

c. Organic emissions from the P-15 stack shall not 
exceed 300 ppmv (dry basis) of total carbon as 
determined in accordance with Regulation 
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This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

8-2-601. 
d. The owner/operator shall demonstrate 

compliance with the Part 3a stack emission 
limits as described in Part 4. 

(Basis: Cumulative Increase, BACT, TBACT, and 
Regulations 2-5-302 and 8-2-301) 

4. Source Testing Requirements for Part 3: 
a. Within 180 days of issuance of this Permit to 

Operate, the owner/operator shall initiate quarterly 
monitoring for the total carbon concentration in 
stack P-15, using authorized procedures and methods, 
to demonstrate compliance with Parts 3a, 3c and 
Regulation 8-2-301, and to assess excess POC 
emissions in the event of non-compliance with Part 
3a, 3c or Regulation 8-2-301. This quarterly 
monitoring shall continue until an organic abatement 
system is operating and continued compliance with 
Regulation 8-2-301 has been demonstrated. 

b. Within 90 days of issuance of this Permit to Operate 
and annually thereafter, unless noted otherwise, the 
owner/operator shall conduct a District approved 
source test at stack P-15, while the S-6 Auto 
Shredder is operating at or near the maximum 
operating rate, to demonstrate compliance with 
the P-15 stack emission limits in Parts 3a-c. The 
owner/operator shall record the shredder processing 
rate, the water application rates for the infeed 
conveyor and the shredder, the water flow rates and 
the pressure differential operating ranges at each 
venturi scrubber, and the ventilation fan amperage 
during the source test. The source test shall 
determine the hourly emission rate and the average 
emission factor (pounds of pollutant per ton of 
material processed by the shredder) for the 
following compounds: 
- total carbon (calculated as methane and as defined 

in Regulation 8-2-202) shall be determined by Air 
District approved methods, such as EPA Methods 25A 
and 18, 

- total POC (calculated as methane), where 
total POC = total carbon (excluding methane only) 
- total NPOC. Total NPOC (calculated as methane) 
shall be determined by Air District approved 

375 Beale Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, CA 94105- (415) 771 .6000 -WWW.BAAQMD.GOV 

Case 4:21-cv-05246-SBA   Document 1   Filed 07/07/21   Page 278 of 282



12/09/20 A0208 Page 7 

~BAY AREA AIR QllALITY PERMIT 
~ MANAGEMENT DISTRICT TO OPERATE 

This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

methods, such as EPA Method 18 and EPA Method 
T0-15 or other similar GC/MS methods. Total NPOC 
is the sum of all NPOCs (other than methane) 
identified in Regulation 2-1-207, expressed as 
methane. 

- total particulate emissions shall be determined 
using EPA Method 5/202. All measured total 
particulate emissions shall be assumed to be PMlO 
for comparison to the limits in Part 3a. 

- Full speciation of organic TACs shall be 
determined by Air District approved methods, such 
as EPA Method T0-15 or other similar GC/MS 
methods. 

- PCBs shall be determined by Air District approved 
methods, such as CARE Method 428. (This test 
shall be conducted within 90 days of Permit to 
Operate issuance and once every four years 
thereafter.) 

- PAHs and naphthalene shall be determined by Air 
District approved methods, such as CARE Method 
429. (This test shall be conducted within 90 days 
of Permit to Operate issuance and once every four 
years thereafter.) 

- Full set of metal TACs (including arsenic (As), 
beryllium (Be), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr) which 
includes total chromium and hexavalent chromium 
(Cr VI), copper (Cu), lead (Pb), manganese (Mn), 
mercury (Hg), nickel (Ni), selenium (Se), and zinc 
(Zn)), shall be determined using Air District 
approved procedures for each compound, including 
CARE Method 425 for hexavalent chromium. (This 
test shall be conducted within 90 days of Permit 
to Operate issuance and once every four years 
thereafter.) 

- Annual emissions for Stack P-15 shall be 
calculated based on the most recent 12-month 
shredder feedstock throughput rate and the 
pounds/ton emission factors determined by the most 
recent source test for total POC and total 
particulate emissions. Annual stack emission rates 
shall be compared to the Part 3a limits. The 
annual source test shall also determine the outlet 
grain loading and the concentration of total 
carbon in the P-15 stack to demonstrate compliance 
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12/09/20 A0208 Page 8 

~ BAY AREA AIR QvALITY PERMIT 
~ MANAGEMENT DISTRICT TO OPERATE 

This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

with Parts 3b and 3c using Air District approved 
methods. 

c. The owner/operator shall submit a source test 
protocol and notification of the scheduled source 
test date to the Air District's Source Test Section 
Manager and to the Permit Engineer at least 30 days 
prior to the scheduled test date. 

d. The owner/operator shall notify the Source Test 
Section Manager of any changes to the scheduled test 
date as soon as possible. 

e. The owner/operator shall submit a copy of the source 
test report to the Source Test Section Manager and 
the Permit Engineer within 60 days of the test date. 

(Basis: Cumulative Increase, TBACT and Regulations 
2-5-302 and 8-2-301) 

5. The owner/operator shall apply water sprays (A-6) at the 
shredder, S-6, and infeed conveyor, S-7, at sufficient 
rates to ensure that non-metallic material exiting the 
sources is moist to the touch at all times of operation. 
(Basis: Cumulative Increase, TBACT; and Regulation 
2-5-302) 

6. The owner/operator shall operate the Recycling Center in 
such a manner that particulate emissions into the 
atmosphere from any operation/equipment for a period or 
periods aggregating more than three minutes in any hour 
shall not cause a visible emission which is as dark or 
darker than No. 0.5 on the Ringelmann Chart, or of such 
opacity as to obscure an observer's view to an equivalent 
or greater degree or result in fallout on adjacent 
property in such quantities as to cause public nuisance 
per District Regulation 1-301. 
(Basis: Regulations 1-301 and 6-1-301) 

7. The owner/operator shall use water spray to minimize 
fugitive dust emissions from material/scrap handling and 
storage to comply with Part 6. The owner/operator shall 
operate the facility at all times in accordance with its 
approved Emissions Minimization Plan (EMP). 
(Basis: Regulations 1-301, 6-1-301, and 6-4-301) 

8. The owner/operator shall not exceed a total of 26 ship 
calls and 63,875 truck calls per calendar year to haul 

375 Beale Street, Suite 600, San Francisco, CA 94105 - (415) 771.6000-WWW.BAAQMD.GOV 

Case 4:21-cv-05246-SBA   Document 1   Filed 07/07/21   Page 280 of 282



This document does not permit the holder to violate any BAAQMD regulation or any other law. PERMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

NOV 1, 2021 
Plant# 208 

*** PERMIT CONDITIONS*** 

in/out scrap/materials at the facility. (Basis: health 
risk assessment for CEQA review) 

9. In order to demonstrate compliance with Part 1 and 8, 
the owner/operator shall keep records of monthly and 
yearly throughput of shredder feedstock materials, ship 
calls and truck calls in a District approved log. 
Shredder feedstock shall be totaled for each consecutive 
rolling 12-month period. The log shall be maintained for 
a period of at least 5 years from the date of data entry 
and shall be made available to the District staff for 
inspection upon request. (Basis: Regulations 2-1-301 and 
2-5-302, Cumulative Increase, CEQA) 

-------------------------- END OF CONDITIONS-------------------------- 
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Bay Area Air Quality 
Management District 

S# 

6 
7 
10 
11 
12 
13 

** SOURCE EMISSIONS** 

Source Description 

Shredder w/ water injection, electric, 225 
Infeed Conveyor (electric) 
Cement Silo 
Joint Products Plants w/ enclosure (2 Trom 
Drum Magnet Line W/ enclosure 
JPP from Wet Seperation Unit downstream 

T O T A L S 

PLANT# 208 
Dec 2, 2020 

Annual Average lbs/day 
PART ORG NOx S02 CO 

.1 
11. 3 

.5 

.6 

12.5 

904 
48 

952 

** PLANT TOTALS FOR EACH EMITTED TOXIC POLLUTANT** 

Pollutant Name 

Benzene 
Ethylene dichloride 
Hexane 
Isopropyl alcohol 
Methyl ethyl ketone (MEK) 
Methyl alcohol 
Perchloroethylene 
Styrene 
Toluene 
Xylene 
Ethylbenzene 
Acrylonitrile 
Vinylidene chloride 
Methylene chloride 
1,3-butadiene 
Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) 
Propylene 
1,1,1-Trichloroethane 
Copper (all) pollutant 
Lead (all) pollutant 
Manganese 
Nickel pollutant 

Page 10 

Emissions lbs/day 

3.69 
.09 

11.50 
1.13 
2.46 
2.62 

.62 
1. 32 

31.97 
42.11 
8.54 

.05 

.13 
2.64 

.11 

.08 
3.20 

. 32 

.06 

.02 

.03 

.01 
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